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Vision

Ever since our establishment in 1945, we have remained committed to 

providing our customers with innovative products and offering a unique 

kind of satisfaction. In the process, we have continued to lead the Korean 

beauty and health industry. Our growth has been driven by the insights 

we have acquired from our customers over the past 63 years, 

our ability to develop the very best products, our brand power, and our 

dominance of sales channels. 

 Today, we want AMOREPACIFIC to be remembered as 

the “Asian Beauty Creator” on the global stage. Our vision is to fulfill 

the dreams of beauty held by four billion Asians. What is more, 

we are now emerging as a global corporation that represents 

the essence of Asian beauty to the entire world.      

Openness

Challenge

Sincerity

Proximity

Innovation

AMOREPACIFIC WAY

AMOREPACIFIC Way Proclamation

“Asian Beauty Creator” is the AMOREPACIFIC mission statement, imbued with the founder’s belief in the need to foster the culture of beauty 

worldwide. In 2008, we established the AMOREPACIFIC Way, which outlines the behavioral guidelines and core values that all employees, 

inside and outside Korea, are to share and follow. Our credo covers five core values, which are summarized as openness, innovation, 

proximity, sincerity and challenge. “Openness” is the belief that true innovation and growth occur only when communication is taking place 

with those outside the organization. “Innovation” is the passion to introduce new things to the world at all times, and “proximity” refers to 

the willingness to remain at the customers’ side in order to serve them. “Sincerity” is our commitment to performing every task to the very 

best of our abilities. Finally, “challenge” expresses the spirit of never being satisfied with the status quo.   

Our business is rapidly expanding throughout Asia and beyond. We 

are overhauling our global operations to strengthen our fundamentals 

and position ourselves firmly as the “Asian Beauty Creator” in 

the global market.

AMOREPACIFIC : The Asian Beauty Creator 

- The name AMOREPACIFIC used throughout this annual report is combined term for all companies under 

 PACIFIC Corporation including AMOREPACIFIC Corporation.
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cleansers and moisturizers also helped to bolster our market leadership. We have continued to build our 

presence in China. The Chinese business, the essence of our overseas business, has bolstered our growth 

momentum by delivering strong and profitable sales increases. This success is attributable to our opening of 

additional sales outlets and a steady improvement in our brand assets. 

Meanwhile, we completed a restructuring in France that has enhanced operational efficiency and has 

laid the groundwork for profit-driven growth in the future. The economic downturn in the US has dampened 

the market generally, but we focused on cultivating global prestige brands. We have been engaged in 

multifaceted innovation activities at AMOREPACIFIC to sustain growth in a rapidly-changing marketplace. 

Customer insight activities were stepped up to obtain a better understanding of hidden customer needs. 

We also strengthened CRM by launching the integrated points program to boost customer value and 

convenience. A strategic procurement program has been implemented to raise cost competitiveness 

during an economic slump, and the result has been lower procurement costs and upgraded procurement 

processes. In addition, we have established the AMOREPACIFIC Way, a credo to guide the behavior and 

values of our people around the world. By adhering to these principles, we can work towards becoming true 

“Asian Beauty Creators.”

The economic slowdown triggered by the 2008 global financial crisis is expected to deepen in the 

coming year. Uncertainty in the business environment will curtail consumption, and market changes will 

accelerate. However, one thing remains clear: the human desires for beauty and good health are endless. 

AMOREPACIFIC continues to seek out the needs locked away in consumers’ hearts and minds and to create 

new opportunities during a period of crisis and chaos. We will take on the challenges and discover the 

opportunities to solidify our position as the “Asian Beauty Creator.”

To this end, we will remain on top of external changes, while stepping up internal innovation and 

accelerating operational execution. We will continue to listen carefully to the voices of our customers and offer 

ever-better services that bring us closer together with them. We will expand our global business with profitable 

growth by strengthening the basis for global operations. Of course, we are also committed to fulfilling our role 

as a corporate citizen that earns the respect and loyalty of customers and the public alike. On behalf of all the 

people at AMOREPACIFIC, I thank you for your interest in the past year and ask for your ongoing support as we 

create new opportunities amid the difficult times ahead.

Message from the CEO

To our shareholders:

The global financial crisis led to difficult economic conditions in 2008, but we managed to raise the 

competitiveness of AMOREPACIFIC and continue growing thanks to proactive investments and ongoing 

innovations. As a result, our sales for the year totaled KRW 1,907 billion, up 16.4 percent from 2007, while 

operating profits were KRW 233 billion, a 4.6 percent improvement year on year. 

The unprecedented meltdown within the global financial system curbed private sector spending, 

yet our cosmetics business showed solid growth. We responded promptly to changing customer needs and 

strengthened our brands by diversifying the lineups of mega-brands such as Sulwhasoo, Hera, IOPE as well 

as launching the new Hannule brand. We also opened Aritaum, an exclusive franchise of specialty stores 

that will strengthen market leadership in mass channels, along with a dominant presence in the premium 

channels. Our personal care product business was hit by deteriorating external factors such as raw material 

cost increases. However, we were able to satisfy an untapped niche market by introducing Ryeo, a premium 

oriental herbal ingredient shampoo formulated for hair loss control. Our popular Happy Bath range of body Kyung-Bae Suh, President and CEO
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Despite the onset of a global slump, our sales grew 13.4 percent 

year on year, further bolstering our leadership in the Korean 

market. Our strong performance was made possible by a balanced 

portfolio in the premium and mass market segments as well as by 

our innovative products and services.

Cosmetics Business

The premium cosmetics segment sales posted 

solid 8.0 percent growth thanks to the expansion 

of Sulwhasoo and Hera in terms of categories and 

functions and also to the heightened recognition of 

Amorepacific. Sulwhasoo’s contribution to overall 

sales rose with strong performers that generated 

at least KRW 10 billion in sales apiece during 2008. 

Moreover the company’s leadership in the oriental 

herbal ingredient segment was boosted in 2008 due 

to the expanded customer base driven by the launch 

of Sulwhasoo for Men. 

Hera heightened its stature as a young premium 

brand with brand renewal and innovative new 

products such as Derma Solution lines, cosmetics 

combined with applicators. Meanwhile, Hera led the 

men’s grooming market by advancing lines for men.  

Amorepacific enhanced the brand image by 

expanding sales counters particularly at premium 

department stores. Also the reinforced Time 

Response line helped the brand to broaden its 

customer base. V=B Program, an inner beauty brand 

designed for healthy beauty, reached “megabrand” 

status in 2008 with sales topping KRW 100 billion. 

Contributing to the strong showing was the popular 

new slimming product, S’lite Slimmer DX.

Thanks to the outstanding performance 

of premium cosmetics, both door-to-door and 

department sales both exceeded their projected 

growth targets for the year. Competition in the 

door-to-door channel was more intense than in 

previous years. However AMOREPACIFIC generated 

sales growth of 5.8 percent by enhancing the sales 

skills of 32,000 counselors and by diversifying the 

product portfolio. We launched and implemented 

the sales stimulation and enhancement program, 

improved counselors’ communication with us, and 

upgraded the customer relationship management 

(CRM) program. The solid business platform was 

thus created so the company and the counselors can 

grow together.

Department store sales also rose more 

than 16.7 percent year on year despite lower 

consumption in general, following the robust sales 

growth in 2007. With the economic slowdown, fewer 

Koreans shopped overseas, and we improved our 

CRM activities at the points of customer contact. 

Therefore, we maintained our position as Korea’s top 

selling cosmetics brand at department stores amid 

intense competition from foreign brands. 

Meanwhile our mass cosmetics sales posted 

a solid 27.6 percent growth over 2007 thanks to 

the functional line extension of IOPE and Laneige as 

well as the cultivation of a premium image for these 

“megabrands.”

We launched Hannule, a brand that targets 

the mass oriental herbal ingredient market, and 

the influx of young buyers of herbal products has 

provided a growth platform. The innovative Plant 

Stem Cell line was added to IOPE, the first skin care 

product in Korea to contain plant stem cells. As such 

IOPE has acquired the image of cosmeceuticals 

developed with life science expertise. Also, the Super 

Vital line achieved sales of KRW 30 billion during its 

first full year on the market, contributing significantly 

to overall sales growth and profitability. 

Laneige established and strengthened its 

“water origin” brand concept by launching the 

Laneige Hydra Solution line, which is associated with 

Himalayan glaciers. Also introduced was Sliding Pact 

EX, an upgraded version of a Laneige bestseller that 

is in step with the latest makeup trend, attracting a 

high influx of buyers in their 20s. In addition, Laneige 

secured its position as a global young premium brand 

by expanding the premium lines and increasing the 

number of department store counters.

One of the important changes in 2008 was 

the launch of Aritaum franchise specialty stores to 

strengthen the leadership of AMOREPACIFIC in the 

mass cosmetics market. Aritaum stores are former 

HUE Place stores that have been converted to carry 

only AMOREPACIFIC products. The initial launch began 

in September, and a total of 890 Aritaum stores were 

opened nationwide within just three months. Thus, 

Aritaum is leading the changeover in mass channels 

and achieving profitable growth. We aim to grow 

Aritaum as a business model that allows customers, 

shop owners and AMOREPACIFIC to all win. 

Personal Care and Green Tea Business

Business conditions were difficult for the personal 

care and tea segments in 2008, including a steep 

rise in raw material costs, but we managed to boost 

sales 5.1 percent over the 2007 figure. We added the 

Black Pearl anti-aging line to Mise en Scene premium 

hair care products. Moreover, sales growth was 

robust for our newly launched oriental herbal hair 

care products under Ryoe, establishing us firmly in 

the specialty shampoo segment. Happy Bath, Korea’

s top-selling body cleanser brand, enjoyed brisk sales 

growth after baby care and sun care products were 

added, and the body moisturizer line was expanded 

in 2008. 

New special-purpose items were inserted into 

Median, a mainstay in the oral care segment. The 

specialty H line was newly introduced, while Fresh line 

saw steady growth. As a result, we achieved a growth 

rate of more than 20 percent in the Korean market 

for oral care products, which actually contracted 

during 2008. In addition, we jumped to the top 

in sales for the personal care segment at major 

retailers such as the E-Mart, Lotte Mart and Home 

Plus discount store chains thanks to reinforced sales 

capabilities and partnerships.

Finally, our green tea sales fell as the entire 

Korean market for tea contracted in 2008. However, 

we opened O’sulloc Tea Shops to sell Sulloc inside 

department stores and major discount stores. We are 

also introducing premium tea as part of an ongoing 

effort to turn this business around. 

Domestic Business Review

Aritaum provides solutions for 

realizing the essence of Asian beauty.

The Aritaum franchise store was officially launched in September 2008.

Others 11.6%

Cosmetics 74.2%

Personal care & 

Green tea 14.2%

2006 2007 2008

1,490

1,623

1,841

Unit : Korean won in billions
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Overseas Business Review

Front view of the Laneige road shop in Hong Kong.

Natural disasters and the global financial crisis 

slowed Chinese consumption in 2008. However, 

rising recognition of Laneige and Mamonde in Asia 

generally, and in China particularly, enabled sales to 

increase over the previous year. 

We were able to put Laneige, with its outstanding 

marketability and great popularity in Asia, on sale 

at Duty Free shops in Singapore. The Laneige brand 

image was also heightened by a successful launch of 

the premium make-up line in Hong Kong and China. 

AMOREPACIFIC, the “Asian Beauty Creator,” is on a mission to 

introduce Asian beauty to the entire world, and efforts are ongoing 

to expand overseas business. The initial focus has been on China, 

with the goal of profitable growth and expanded presence in this 

strategically important market.

Lolita Lempicka has captured 

European hearts.

The Laneige Snow Crystal make-up line 

was launched in Shanghai in 2008.

China

FranceThe United States

At the same time, the number of specialty stores 

and department store counters for Mamonde was 

increased in 2008, and the brand moved past the 

break-even point, helping to expand the China 

business and improve its profitability. Meanwhile, 

we expanded the head office training program for 

sales representatives working around Asia, and 

also CRM activities were stepped up. As a result, 

double-digit sales growth was achieved in Asia, and 

the China business, which broke even in 2007, saw 

sales surge 56.4 percent, while profitability was up 

about 250 percent.   

Turning to Western markets, we simultaneo-

usly restructured for efficiency and bolstered our 

premium brand image. Our French business was 

streamlined to focus on its core business, Lolita 

Lempicka perfume, delivering the platform for 

profitable growth. Improved business efficiency is 

now helping Lolita Lempicka expand into markets 

beyond France.

The US economy slowed down and consumer 

sentiment fell in 2008. In this market, however, 

Amorepacific has gained recognition as a prestige 

brand, providing the basis for continued growth 

in sales revenue. Sales of competing brands fell 

while the distinctive “Asian Beauty” brand value of 

Amorepacific was established sufficiently to sustain 

sales growth in such luxury department stores as 

Bergdorf Goodman and Neiman Marcus. 

North America 4.7%

China 45%

France 50.3%

2006 2007 2008

113

141

191

Unit : Korean won in billions
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Innovating operations from insights 

into customer needs

True innovation starts from understanding 

customers’ hidden needs. To gain greater insight into 

our customers, we do more than just analyze the 

vast volumes data we have on them. We also interact 

with them directly to learn their beauty concerns, 

find out how they use our products, and observe 

their purchasing habits in detail. The insights thus 

gained are then applied to address those concerns, 

develop innovative products that satisfy customers’ 

needs, and upgrade services.  

 AMOREPACIFIC Integrated Points Program

We launched AMOREPACIFIC Membership 

in 2008, the first points program of its kind to 

be offered by a cosmetics maker. Customers 

accumulate points from purchases of cosmetics in 

diverse sales channels (department stores, brand 

shops, discount stores), and the points can be 

redeemed freely at any business establishment 

that participates in the AMOREPACIFIC Membership 

program. The enhanced convenience and utility of 

this new program is a direct result of our response to 

customers’ needs. Greater satisfaction is therefore 

provided to both longstanding customers and new 

customers. Moreover, the categories covered by the 

Membership service are being expanded to include 

personal care and green tea items. 

We will continue to analyze customers’ 

lifelong patterns to bolster our services and generate 

greater customer loyalty. 

Maximizing brand value by emphasizing design 

We have applied our insights into customer 

behavior to support our product design activities, 

which result in unequivocal brand value and 

maximized product effectiveness. Our designs 

are approached from multiple angles, including 

visual attractiveness, functional effectiveness and 

environmental friendliness, and they have provided 

customers with many pleasant surprises. We are now 

receiving global recognition for the excellence of our 

product designs. 

 International Design Awards

Our products were recognized once again 

for excellence in design by garnering numerous 

awards in 2008, including some of the world’s 

most prestigious. In May, IOPE Renewing Skin Filler 

received an Industry Design Excellence Award 

from the Industrial Design Society of America, and 

IOPE Renewing IPL Effecter received an iF Design 

Award at the International Forum Design (Germany) 

presentation in October. Laneige High Perm Curling 

Mascara won the 2008 World Packaging Award from 

Japan’s World Packaging Organization in November. 

This same product also received an Etoile Award 

in the Innovative Design (Observeur du Design) 

category at a competition sponsored by the Agency 

for the Promotion of Industrial design in France. 

Our efforts to raise our brand value and 

maximize customer satisfaction through superior 

designs will continue in the future. 

Building win-win relationship 

with business partners 

Our customers come into contact with 

AMOREPACIFIC products through multiple channels, 

The Aritaum Membership Card 

offers a comprehensive points 

accumulation program.

Growth through Innovation We are constantly improving all key aspects of our business, 

including customer relations, sales channels, product lines and cost 

controls in order to keep growing amid a fast-changing marketplace.        

IOPE Renewal IPL Effecter was 

honored at the iF Design Awards.

including door-to-door agents, department stores, 

discount stores and brand shops. Thus we strive 

to build mutually-beneficial relationships with all 

these various business associates to strengthen 

our p latform for growth. We support their 

steady expansion, which in turn raises customer 

satisfaction and leads to profitable growth for 

both AMOREPACIFIC and those who partner with 

AMOREPACIFIC.   

 Aritaum Multi-brand Franchise

The HUE Place mult i -brand shop was 

launched in July 2004 and subsequently expanded 

into a network of 960 locations Korea-wide. The 

business enjoyed stable growth from systematic 

promotional activities and careful customer 

relationship management. 

In 2008, HUE Place stores were converted 

to Aritaum stores, a new kind of multi-brand shop. 

The name “Aritaum” refers to a “beautiful space 

that creates beautiful people,” and Aritaum stores 

do more than sell cosmetics. They are operated 

as a franchise and designed to offer one-on-one 

consulting services to address customers’ beauty 

concerns. Whereas HUE Place stores carry products 

from various manufacturers, Aritaum exclusively 

sells AMOREPACIFIC brands. 

The HUE Place proprietors have been 

enthusiastically receptive to the new arrangement, 

with 890 stores completing the changeover as of 

December 2008. 
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Global competitiveness is being raised through joint research projects with overseas 

institutions.

Improving research & development 

by adopting an open innovation

Our ambitious R&D program covers various 

beauty and health areas (such as anti-aging, skin 

whitening and obesity) in order to develop state-

of-the-art technology and globally-competitive 

products. We are also building a global network 

that provides in-depth research and new ideas for 

elevating overall R&D efficiency. 

  Closer Cooperation with Domestic & 

Foreign Research Institutes 

Our in-depth understanding of herbal 

medicine and related technical know-how have 

been a key factor in bolstering our competitiveness 

in the Korean cosmetics market. In 2008, we 

signed a joint research agreement with Kangwon 

National University to develop ingredients for herbal 

cosmetics, and the AMOREPACIFIC Medicinal Herb 

Garden was established on a plot of land owned 

by the university. This project will test-cultivate 

medicinal herbs already used in cosmetics, evaluate 

herbs still unknown for their efficacy on human skin, 

and expand the scope of potential herbal resources. 

Joint pro jects are also being pursued with 

universities and research institutions overseas 

to e levate r esear ch s tandar ds and g loba l 

product competitiveness. As part of this effort, 

the AMOREPACIFIC R&D Center organized the 

Internat ional Symposium on New Cosmetic 

Formulations in 2008. The presentation topics 

in the development of high-quality, highly reliable 

products. In the process, our brand value will 

continue to rise. 

Bolstering competitiveness by innovating 

corporate activities

Cost competitiveness is one of our core 

competencies, which we foster through various 

innovative approaches such as total cost reduction, 

shared services and strategic outsourcing. Global 

cost competitiveness is the driver behind our 

aggressive investments and differentiated business 

strategies during an economic downturn. 

  Strategic Procurement Project

In 2008 we implemented our Strategic 

Procurement Project to increase the efficiency 

o f pr ocur ement pr ocesses and r a i se cos t 

competitiveness companywide. Data on various 

purchase categories (raw materials, secondary 

mater ia ls , packaging mater ia ls , promot ion 

materials, OEM) were analyzed and major issues 

for improvement were identified. Based on these 

findings, we established new plans and initiated 

systematic innovations throughout the procurement 

apparatus. 

These efforts enabled us to f ind new 

domestic and overseas suppliers who are the 

most competitive in terms of cost and quality, 

expanding our pool of procurement partners. We 

also established an integrated purchasing system and 

forward procurement processes. The groundwork 

has thus been laid for cost-cutting over the long 

term. We will continue to improve our procurement 

processes in order to enhance our competitiveness 

still more. The money saved can be re-injected as 

a growth fund for overcoming the slowdown in 

marketing and R&D activities.      

included NeoCell, the world’s first skin cell mimetic 

for cosmetics, developed in a 3-year project 

conducted with a Prof. David Weitz at Harvard 

University. NeoCell acts like skin cells that inhibit 

aging by wrapping a thin membrane similar to 

cellular tissue around the drivers of melanin 

production and collagen decomposition, the two 

leading factors in the skin aging process. The 

substance is expected to be used in anti-aging 

products in the future.  

We at AMOREPACIFIC wil l continue to 

innovate in order to improve our R&D efficiency 

The Laboratory in Shanghai.
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Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) 

activities implemented to help people in 

society live in harmony

We adopted the door-to-door sales method 

during the 1960s, this new approach provided an 

opportunity for more Korean women to enter 

the workforce and helped them to secure greater 

financial independence. 

In 1973 we established the AMOREPACIFIC 

Research & Cultural Foundation, paving the way 

for a full-fledged CSR program. Our CSR activities 

are directed mainly at women, for we clearly 

recognize the essential role that women play in 

social advancement. The good health of women 

is a prerequisite for healthy families and a healthy 

society. Therefore, we engage in a multifaceted 

effort to improve the quality of life for women.

AMOREPACIFIC has sponsored the Pink 

Ribbon Campaign for the past ten years to heighten 

public awareness of breast cancer and to inform 

people about the necessity and importance of 

regular preventative checkups. The Pink Ribbon 

Marathon, one of the highlights of this campaign, has 

been held in Seoul and four other Korean cities each 

The Pink Ribbon Marathon was held once again in five Korean cities during 2008.

Hope Stores are established with 

financial support from the Beautiful 

World Fund.

year since 2001. All the proceeds from the event are 

donated to the Korea Breast Cancer Foundation for 

use in breast cancer prevention programs. In 2008, 

more than 25,000 people took part.

The Make Up Your Life Campaign was newly 

launched in 2008 to assist women recovering from 

breast cancer. The participants are taught new ways 

to use makeup, take care of their skin and wear their 

hair in order to recover physical looks that suffered 

during cancer treatment. The campaign helps them 

to overcome their feelings of loss from the disease 

and regain their inner beauty as well. More than 500 

women from eighteen hospitals in the Greater Seoul 

Area took part in the campaign in 2008. 

AMOREPACIFIC beauty counselors also 

volunteered their time to help make the campaign 

a resounding success. We also support the Hope 

Stores program, which provides low-income single 

mothers with unsecured loans to start up their 

own business. The loans are arranged through 

the Beautiful World Fund, donated to the Beautiful 

Foundation in accordance with the wishes of 

AMOREPACIFIC Founder Sung-Whan Suh. In addition 

to the small business loan, program participants 

receive consulting services and regular monitoring. 

The single mothers are given the opportunity 

to become truly self-sufficient, and their repayments 

to the Beautiful World Fund are loaned to other low-

income single mothers. Such a virtuous cycle of 

sharing offers a new model for social welfare.

The Make Up Your Life Campaign was launched in a ceremony. 

Corporate Sustainability 
Management

We are on a mission to promote the beauty and health of our 

customers, help shape a happy and harmonious future for the 

younger generation and create a richer and more beautiful life for 

our employees and society in general. In the process, we aim 

to be an enterprise that earns the respect of customers 

worldwide.   
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the Jeju Island Seo-kwang Tea Plantation. The green 

tea bushes absorb carbon dioxide and lower carbon 

emissions, helping to combat global warming. 

In 2008, we became more active in global 

efforts to prevent climate change by launching a 

companywide program for reducing greenhouse gas 

emissions. The first step was to identify sources of 

greenhouse gas at each worksite and now monthly 

emission volumes are closely monitored. An initial 

reduction target has been set for 2010 and a roadmap 

for further reductions is in place through 2013. 

We also took part in a preliminary test of 

the Korea Ministry of Environment’s carbon labeling 

system, which goes into full effect in 2009. Lifecycle 

assessments have been conducted to determine the 

carbon footprint (covering production, distribution, 

use and disposal) of each product, and the figures 

have been disclosed on the package. 

Mise en Scene Pearl Shining moisture 

shampoo received a model certification in December, 

Green management to benefit customers 

and the environment 

We are we l l  aware that a l l  bus iness 

activities are closely tied to the environment. The 

environmental load of each process related to 

our business is minimized under the belief that 

maintaining a pristine natural environment is no 

different from protecting the beauty and health of 

our customers. Therefore, AMOREPACIFIC operates 

as a “green” enterprise that takes care of customers’ 

health and the environment in general.

In the 1970s, we started our green tea 

business by putting barren land on Jeju Island under 

tea cultivation. Over time we built up the Sulloc 

brand as one of Korea’s leading green tea products 

and helped revive the Korean green tea tradition 

in modern society. This cultural and commercial 

success has also brought unnoticed environmental 

benefits. We now raise tea on a total of some 800 

acres of land at four locations in Korea, including 

The Green Life Campaign was officially started at Innisfree store in Myeong-dong.

The Green Mileage Campaign was 

organized to encourage reduced 

use of packaging materials.   

The Innisfree Eco-recipe line was 

introduced in 2008. 

and we will continue our determined efforts to 

reduce CO2 emissions in every production process. 

This includes reducing the weight of the product 

containers and maximizing production efficiency. 

Meanwhile, AMOREPACIFIC is working to develop 

alternative technologies and environment-friendlier 

materials for the first time in Korea. The Ecocert-

compliant Innisfree Eco-recipe line was launched 

in July 2008. Each product in this line has been 

developed so that all related processes satisfy 

rigorous standards for environment friendliness and 

organic cultivation. More organic products will soon 

be available, including Premera Sensitive Moisturizer, 

Eye Serum, and Happy Bath Chamomile Baby 

Shampoo & Bath. 

AMOREPACIFIC CEO Kyung-Bae Suh received the President’s Commendation in the Business Leader category at 

the Grand Awards for Excellence in Sustainable Management, sponsored by the Ministry of Finance and Economy in 

October 2008. The honor recognizes exemplary performance of corporate social responsibilities. AMOREPACIFIC 

engages in various community service programs for women as part of a commitment to develop along with 

customers and society. In addition, the company has an outstanding record in environmental management. Over the 

past three decades or so, the company has converted some 800 acres of barren land into productive green tea fields, 

using the fruits of nature to overcome economic hardship while protecting the environment.      
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Lolita Lempicka: A Modern Romantic Fragrance 

Lolita Lempicka is a global brand that remains 

popular for its romantic fragrances and artistic 

container designs. The original “Lolita Lempicka” 

perfume suggests purity, mystery and sensual 

temptation, while “L de Lolita Lempicka” offers a 

captivating essence reminiscent of the clear blue sea 

and bright sunshine.   

www.lolitalempicka.co.kr

Brands

Amorepacific: True Care for Skin

Innovative technologies are applied to exotic 

ingredients extracted from Asian plants (green tea, 

ginseng, bamboo) to offer customers true skin care. 

Amorepacific has been making Asian beauty secrets 

and techniques available to customers in Korea, the US 

and Japan. The AMORE Spa, with branches in Seoul and 

New York, allows customers to experience top quality 

products and sensational spa treatments.

www.amorepacific.com

The AMOREPACIFIC brand portfolio is diverse, ranging from the prestige to 

mass markets to satisfy a wide range of needs and provide distinctive value to 

each target customer group. Sulwhasoo, Amorepacific, Laneige, and Mamonde 

are unrivalled in the Korean market, and we are leveraging that strength to 

build them into global brands.
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Hera: The Promise of Radiant Beauty 

This prestige brand is designed to elicit the wearer’

s potential glamour to the full. The brand’s cutting-

edge skin care line and sophisticated makeup line are 

particularly appreciated by women who are seeking 

alluring yet dignified beauty.    

www.hera.co.kr

Laneige: Science of Water & Light 

for Young Asian Women

Laneige is designed for Asian women who want 

to create a unique look that is unconstrained by 

convention. Especially popular are the Snow Crystal 

makeup line and Water Science skin care line, which 

gives skin a snow-like transparency.

www.laneige.com

Sulwhasoo: The Aesthetics of Herbal Cosmetics

Sulwhasoo product concepts are based on the 

science of traditional Asian medicine and stress 

balanced skin maintenance. Carefully-selected 

herbal essences provide an outstanding efficacy that 

makes Sulwhasoo stand unchallenged in Korea. Its 

popularity continues to grow in the overseas market.

www.sulwhasoo.co.kr

IOPE: Applied Natural Life Science 

for Skin Vitality

IOPE is a cosmeceutical brand that offers solutions to 

diverse skin problems. Retinol TX, the Super Vital line, 

and Plant Stem Cell line are scientifically formulated 

to revitalize the skin. IOPE is the right choice for 

customers looking to improve their skin condition.

www.iope.co.kr
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Etude: For Sweet Imaginations 

This brand can help young women realize their 

dreams for changing the way that they look. Etude 

constantly introduces new and unusual products that 

are fun and provide opportunities to experiment in 

expressing their individuality.     

www.etude.co.kr

Mamonde: Synonymous with Smart 

Feminine Beauty 

This brand stands for bright and lovely femininity, 

which has gained great popularity in both Korea 

and China. Product lines such as Total Solution and 

Powder Pact feature natural ingredients extracted 

from flowers. They keep the skin moist and soft for 

a completely natural look.

www.mamonde.co.kr

Sulloc: Green Tea from Snow-covered Mt. Halla 

Sulloc uses green tea leaves that have been 

cultivated on plantations operated by AMOREPACIFIC. 

Customers can rest assured that quality is outstanding, 

making this the leading green tea brand in Korea. For 

greater customer selection, the tea is available as 

leaves, in teabags or in powdered form. The O’sulloc 

Tea House is a place to spend time in a leisurely and 

healthy way. 

www.sulloc.co.kr

Innisfree: An Unadorned Vessel of Nature 

Innisfree features all-natural herbal ingredients and 

delicate sensibilities that promise clean and clear 

skin. The Innisfree Herb Station is a brand shop that 

offers the benefits of an herb garden, stimulating 

both body and mind amid the bustling urban 

environment.   

www.innisfree.co.kr
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Independent Auditors’ Report

Taeyoung Bldg., 10-2, Yeoido-dong, Youngdeungpo-gu, Seoul, 150-777, Korea 

(Yeoido P. O. Box 428) 

March 11, 2009

This audit report is effective as of March 11, 2009, the auditors’ report date. Accordingly, certain material subsequent 

events or circumstances may have occurred during the period from the auditors’ report date to the time this audit report 

is used. Such events and circumstances could significantly affect the accompanying consolidated financial statements and 

may result in modifications to this report.

The Board of Directors and Stockholders 

PACIFIC Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of PACIFIC Corporation (the “Company”) 

and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the related consolidated statements of income, 

changes in equity and cash flows for the years then ended. These consolidated financial statements are 

the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 

consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We did not audit the financial statements of 

eight subsidiaries including AMOREPACIFIC Corporation, whose financial statements reflect total assets 

representing approximately 55.3% and 51.2% as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and total sales representing 

approximately 88.2% and 91.8% for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, of the 

related consolidated financial statement amounts. Those subsidiaries’ financial statements were audited by 

other auditors whose reports have been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts 

included for those subsidiaries, is based solely on the reports of the other auditors.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the Republic of Korea. 

Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 

the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on 

a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also 

includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well 

as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits and the reports of the 

other auditors provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, based on our audits and the reports of the other auditors, the consolidated financial 

statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position 

of the Company and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the consolidated results of 

their operations, their changes in equity and their cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with 

accounting principles generally accepted in the Republic of Korea. 

We have also reviewed the translation of the 2008 and 2007 consolidated financial statements mentioned 

above into United States dollar amounts on the basis described in Note 2 to the accompanying consolidated 

financial statements. In our opinion, such statements have been properly translated on such basis.

Accounting principles and auditing standards and their application in practice vary among countries. The 

accompanying consolidated financial statements are not intended to present the financial position, results of 

operations, changes in equity and cash flows in accordance with accounting principles and practices generally 

accepted in countries other than the Republic of Korea. In addition, the procedures and practices utilized 

in the Republic of Korea to audit such consolidated financial statements may differ from those generally 

accepted and applied in other countries. Accordingly, this report and the accompanying consolidated financial 

statements are for use by those who are knowledgeable about Korean accounting principles and auditing 

standards and their application in practice. 

Consolidated Balance Sheets

   Korean won in thousands U.S. dollars in thousands (Note 2)

   2008 2007 2008 2007

Assets

Current assets:

 Cash and cash equivalents 211,160,745  170,914,265 167,921 182,173 

 Short-term investments 353,849,022 384,986,037 281,391 410,345 

 Trade accounts and notes receivable, net of allowance for

  doubtful accounts of ￦3,558,026 thousand in 2008

  (￦2,753,234 thousand in 2007) (Notes 12, 21 and 22) 182,611,411  150,806,831 145,218 160,741 

 Other accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful

  accounts of ￦261,373 thousand in 2008

  (￦235,758 thousand in 2007) 9,809,245 5,973,386 7,801 6,367 

 Short-term loans receivable 4,350,000 - 3,459 - 

 Inventories (Notes 4 and 9) 192,459,115 155,011,360 153,049 165,222 

 Accrued income 5,705,130 6,067,570 4,537 6,467 

 Advance payments 7,342,674 9,287,956 5,839 9,900 

 Prepaid expenses 6,639,833 20,577,558 5,280 21,933 

 Other current assets 3,827,184 4,820,007 3,043 5,137 

  Total current assets 977,754,359 908,444,970 777,538 968,285 

Non-current assets:

 Long-term financial instruments (Note 3) 23,500 23,500 19 25 

 Equity method investments (Note 5) 33,031,951 31,673,515 26,268 33,760 

 Available-for-sale securities (Note 6) 12,260,289 8,373,793 9,750 8,925 

 Long-term loans receivable 18,367,132 17,512,332 14,606 18,666 

 Investment in land (Note 7) 50,555,517 51,641,137 40,203 55,043 

 Property, plant and equipment, net (Notes 7 and 9) 1,141,155,180 1,004,799,565 907,479 1,070,987 

 Intangible assets, net (Note 8) 456,160,178 494,895,805 362,752 527,495 

 Long-term advance payments (Note 12) - 11,200,000 - 11,938 

 Long-term prepaid expenses 1,553,228 1,858,279 1,235 1,981 

 Long-term guarantee deposits 48,081,668 41,501,486 38,236 44,235 

 Other non-current assets - 112,140 - 119 

  Total non-current assets 1,761,188,643 1,663,591,552 1,400,548 1,773,174 

Total assets 2,738,943,002 2,572,036,522 2,178,086 2,741,459 

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007
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   Korean won in thousands U.S. dollars in thousands (Note 2)

   2008 2007 2008 2007

Liabilities and stockholders' equity

Current liabilities:

 Trade accounts and notes payable (Notes 21 and 22) 62,174,751 46,594,266 49,443 49,663 

 Short-term borrowings (Notes 10 and 21) 25,499,372 19,300,548 20,278 20,572 

 Other accounts payable 115,365,613 105,256,916 91,742 112,190 

 Withholdings 29,013,486 25,147,386 23,072 26,804 

 Advances received 1,257,808 25,898,802 1,000 27,605 

 Accrued expenses 5,661,975 3,338,610 4,503 3,559 

 Income taxes payable 51,671,686 58,568,304 41,091 62,426 

 Dividends payable 186,044 183,205 148 195 

 Deferred income tax liabilities (Note 17) 4,253,761 2,568,420 3,381 2,738 

 Other current liabilities 1,179,881 749,940 938 799 

  Total current liabilities 296,264,377 287,606,397 235,596 306,551 

Non-current liabilities:

 Long-term advances received (Note 7) 107,187,989 83,971,267 85,239 89,503 

 Long-term other accounts payable 25,675,722 21,615,640 20,418 23,039 

 Severance and retirement benefits, net (Note 11) 32,242,181 31,797,010 25,640 33,892 

 Provision for sales returns 19,945,938 16,581,252 15,862 17,673 

 Deferred income tax liabilities (Note 17) 64,817,438 113,852,618 51,545 121,352 

 Guarantee deposits received 8,404,988 2,751,367 6,684 2,933 

 Other non-current liabilities 7,696,743 14,492,691 6,121 15,447 

  Total non-current liabilities 265,970,999 285,061,845 211,509 303,839 

  Total liabilities 562,235,376 572,668,242 447,105 610,390 

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 12 and 22)

Stockholders' equity:

 Capital stock (Note 13):

  Common stock 39,895,490 39,895,490  31,726 42,523 

  Preferred stock 4,555,485 4,555,485  3,623 4,856 

 Capital surplus (Note 14) 851,427,591 849,678,751  677,080 905,648 

 Capital adjustments (Note 15) (135,303,505) (133,329,625) (107,597) (142,112)

 Accumulated other comprehensive income (Note 19) 13,717,380 7,135,310 10,908 7,605 

 Retained earnings (Note 16) 552,390,588 493,665,616 439,277 526,184 

 Minority interest in consolidated subsidiaries 850,024,597 737,767,253 675,964 786,365 

  Total stockholders' equity 2,176,707,626 1,999,368,280 1,730,981 2,131,069 

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity 2,738,943,002 2,572,036,522 2,178,086 2,741,459 

   Korean won in thousands U.S. dollars in thousands (Note 2) 

   2008 2007 2008 2007

Sales (Notes 21, 22, 26 and 27) 1,906,675,965 1,638,137,008 1,516,243 1,746,042

Cost of sales (Notes 21 and 22) 590,628,906 484,118,622 469,685 516,008 

Gross profit 1,316,047,059 1,154,018,386 1,046,558 1,230,034 

Selling and administrative expenses  1,082,974,801  931,135,668 861,213 992,470 

Operating income 233,072,258 222,882,718 185,345 237,564 

Other income (expenses):

 Interest income, net 31,610,428 27,296,988 25,138 29,095 

 Dividend income 104,609 - 83 - 

 Rental income 1,570,819 274,457 1,249 293 

 Gain on foreign currency transactions, net 4,050,128 755,267 3,221 805 

 Gain (loss) on foreign currency translation, net (839,065) 17,781 (667) 19 

 Equity in losses of equity method investments, net (Note 5) (4,472,153) (6,013,097) (3,556) (6,409)

 Gain on disposal of available-for-sale securities - 7,408,417 - 7,896 

 Gain on disposal of investments, net (Note 7) 1,018,575 574,705 810 613 

 Gain (loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment, net 6,322,521 (1,283,436) 5,028 (1,368)

 Reversal of allowance for doubtful accounts 2,167 344,306 2 367 

 Donations (Note 23) (2,955,618) (2,676,929) (2,350) (2,853)

 Commissions revenue 237,179 2,780,189 189 2,963 

 Others, net (3,588,739) 7,278,056 (2,854) 7,758 

   33,060,851 36,756,704 26,293 39,179 

Income before income taxes from continuing operations 266,133,109  259,639,422 211,638 276,743 

Provision for income taxes from continuing operations (Note 17) 65,874,099  82,662,660 52,385 88,109 

   200,259,010 176,976,762 159,253 188,634 

Losses from a discontinuing operation, net of tax 

 (tax effect of ￦6,950,627 thousand in 2008

 and ￦687,682 thousnad in 2007) (Note 30) 13,903,338 1,375,570 11,056 1,466 

Net income  186,355,672 175,601,192 148,197 187,168 

Attributable to :

 Stockholders of the parent 70,805,343 55,034,566 56,307  58,660 

 Minority interest 115,550,329 120,566,626 91,890   128,508 

   186,355,672 175,601,192 148,197 187,168 

Earning per share

(Korean won and U.S. dollars in units) (Note 18) :

 Basic, for profit from continuing operations  10,017 7,299 8 8 

 Basic, for profit for the year 9,354 7,234 7 8 

 Diluted, for profit from continuing operations 9,720 7,097 8 8 

 Diluted, for profit for the year 9,080 7,033 7 7 

Consolidated Statements of Income

Years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
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Korean won and U.S. dollars in thousands

      Accumulated   Minority

       other  Interest

     Capital comprehensive Retained in consolidated   

   Capital stock Capital surplus adjustments income earnings subsidiaries Total

As of Januanry 1, 2007 44,450,975 851,169,194 (642,283,313) 9,931,693 956,890,068 659,778,004 1,879,936,621 

 Dividends - - - - (10,417,923) (21,802,770) (32,220,693)

 Loss resulting from capital

     reduction (Note 15) -  -  507,841,095  -  (507,841,095) - -

 Disposal of treasury stock - (239,652) 1,112,593 - - - 872,941 

 Disposal of available-for-sale        

     securities -  -  -  (7,142,799) - - (7,142,799)

 Changes in consolidated subsidiaries - - - - - (25,302,922) (25,302,922)

 Net income -  -  -  -  55,034,566 120,566,626 175,601,192 

 Others - (1,250,791) - 4,346,416 - 4,528,315 7,623,940 

As of December 31, 2007 44,450,975 849,678,751 (133,329,625) 7,135,310 493,665,616 737,767,253 1,999,368,280 

As of Januanry 1, 2008 44,450,975 849,678,751 (133,329,625) 7,135,310 493,665,616 737,767,253 1,999,368,280 

 Dividends - - - - (12,097,839) (24,189,186) (36,287,025)

 Exchange differences on translation

     of foreign operations - - - 5,891,114 - 20,896,201 26,787,315 

 Net income - - - - 70,805,343 115,550,329 186,355,672 

 Others - 1,748,840 (1,973,880) 690,956 17,468 - 483,384 

As of December 31, 2008 44,450,975 851,427,591 (135,303,505) 13,717,380 552,390,588 850,024,597 2,176,707,626 

U.S.  dollars equivalents (Note 2) 35,349 677,080 (107,597) 10,908 439,277 675,964 1,730,981 

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

Years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

   Korean won in thousands U.S. dollars in thousands (Note 2)

   2008 2007 2008 2007

Cash flows from operating activities: 

 Net income  186,355,672 175,601,192  148,197 187,168 

 Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash 

 provided by operating activities:

  Provision for severance and retirement benefits 26,307,390 27,526,589 20,920 29,340 

  Bad debt expense 751,190 107,130 597 114 

  Depreciation 77,292,329 70,193,925 61,465 74,818 

  Amortization of intangible assets 39,432,320 38,600,094 31,358 41,143 

  Gain on foreign currency translation, net (54,232) (17,781) (43) (19)

  Equity in losses of equity-method investments, net 4,472,153 6,013,097 3,556  6,409 

  Gain on disposal of available-for-sale securities -  (7,408,417) -  (7,896)

  Gain on disposal of investments, net (1,018,575) (574,705) (810) (613)

  Loss (gain) on disposal of property, 

  plant and equipment, net (6,322,521) 1,283,436 (5,028) 1,368 

  Reversal of allowance for doubtful accounts (2,167) (344,306) (2) (367)

  Reversal of negative goodwill (351,484) (544,815) (280) (581)

  Others, net 9,171,889 69,820 7,294 74 

 Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

  Trade accounts and notes receivable (23,261,582) (746,270) (18,498) (795)

  Other accounts receivable (3,112,550) 356,305 (2,475) 380 

  Accrued income 362,440 (1,338,262) 288 (1,426)

  Advance payments 5,321,918 (1,065,712) 4,232 (1,136)

  Prepaid expenses 13,937,724 (5,172,122) 11,084 (5,513)

  Inventories (38,319,176) (31,370,392) (30,473) (33,437)

  Trade accounts and notes payable 20,594,234 (1,815,196) 16,377 (1,935)

  Other accounts payable 11,224,362 13,544,837 8,926 14,437 

  Accrued expenses 2,323,365 2,767,431 1,848 2,950 

  Withholdings 3,782,630 (1,691,232) 3,008 (1,803)

  Advances received (2,681,967) (932,189) (2,133) (993)

  Long-term guarantee deposits (1,462,725) (7,218,076) (1,163) (7,694)

  Income taxes payable (6,681,929) 724,998 (5,314) 773 

  Payment of severance and retirement benefits (23,054,114) (22,677,363) (18,333) (24,171)

  Deposits for severance benefits (3,543,561) (4,556,343) (2,818) (4,856)

  Deferred income taxes (34,714,571) 41,785,616 (27,606) 44,538 

  Provision for sales returns 1,679,127 (2,251,744) 1,335 (2,400)

  Others, net 4,633,863 (971,517) 3,685 (1,036)

   Total adjustments 76,705,780 112,276,836 60,997 119,673 

   Net cash provided by operating activities 263,061,452 287,878,028 209,194 306,841 

Years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
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   Korean won in thousands U.S. dollars in thousands (Note 2)

   2008 2007 2008 2007

Cash flows from investing activities:

 Receipt of dividends 1,922,603 1,418,448 1,529 1,512 

 Decrease (increase) in short-term investments, net 31,663,697 (40,049,998) 25,180 (42,688)

 Increase in long-term financial instruments, net - (2,000) -  (2)

 Decrease (increase) in short-term loans, net (4,828,500) 233,924 (3,840) 249 

 Acquisition of equity-method investments (4,655,293) (6,420,236) (3,702) (6,843)

 Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale securities 1,936,741 19,705,402 1,540 21,003 

 Acquisition of available-for-sale securities (4,501,274) (1,100,493) (3,580) (1,173)

 Decrease (increase) in long-term loans, net 776,823 (3,747,153) 618 (3,994)

 Increase in long-term guarantee deposits, net (7,066,184) (591,405) (5,619) (630)

 Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 34,976,622 26,545,048 27,814 28,294 

 Proceeds from disposal of intangible assets 200,000 - 159 - 

 Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (218,572,992) (211,444,059) (173,815) (225,372)

 Acquisition of intangible assets (14,975,678) (10,559,395) (11,909) (11,255)

 Others, net 11,194,347 (1,931,092) 8,902 (2,058)

  Net cash used in investing activities (171,929,088) (227,943,009) (136,723) (242,957)

Cash flows from financing activities:

 Increase (decrease) in short-term borrowings, net 615,120 (2,729,027) 489 (2,909)

 Proceeds from disposal of treasury stock - 899,307 - 959 

 Proceeds from issuance of common stock - 605,664 - 646 

 Payment of dividends  (51,353,140) (43,059,375) (40,838) (45,896)

 Others, net 4,290,140 (1,882,820) 3,412 (2,007)

  Net cash used in financing activities (46,447,880) (46,166,251) (36,937) (49,207)

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents from

 change of subsidiaries in consolidated financial 

 statements - (20,730,245) - (22,096)

Change in cash and cash equivalents 

 from foreign-based operations translation (4,438,004) 1,678,926 (3,529) 1,789 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 40,246,480 (5,282,551) 32,005 (5,630)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

 (Note 29) 170,914,265 176,196,816 135,916 187,803 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year(Note 29) 211,160,745 170,914,265 167,921 182,173

1. Corporate information

The organization and business of PACIFIC Corporation (the “Controlling Company”) and its consolidated 

subsidiaries (collectively the “Company”) which consist of 6 domestic and 5 foreign subsidiaries, as well 

as 13 affiliated companies that are accounted for using the equity method of accounting are described 

below:

a. The Controlling Company

The Controlling Company was incorporated on September 5, 1945 under the laws of the Republic of Korea 

to engage in manufacturing, marketing and trading cosmetics, personal care goods and others. However, on 

January 1, 2007, the Controlling Company’s type of business entity was changed to a holding company to 

provide management, administrative and financing services to its subsidiaries and affiliated companies. Major 

procedures of change to the holding company are as follows:

 • July 31, 2005: Merged with PACIFICGLAS, Inc. 

 • December 10, 2005: Merged with Jangwon Co., Ltd. 

 • June 1, 2006: Split-off of AMOREPACIFIC Corporation

 •  December 15, 2006: Acquired additional common and preferred shares of AMORE PACIFIC 

Corporation

 • January 1, 2007: Met the requirements of Fair Trading Act as a holding company

 • April 1, 2007: Split-off PACIFICGLAS, Inc. and Jangwon Co., Ltd.

Further, the Controlling Company listed its common and preferred shares on the Korea Exchange in 1973 

and the Controlling Company’s capital stock amounted to ￦44,451 million as of December 31, 2008.

b. Consolidated subsidiaries

Consolidated subsidiaries as of December 31, 2008 are as follows:

December 31, 2008 and 2007

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Korean won in millions

   Number of  Ownership

Company Major business Total equity  shares (%) Location

AMOREPACIFIC Corporation Manufacturing and marketing of cosmetics 34,508 2,220,689 35.40 Korea

PACIFICPHARMA Corporation Manufacturing and marketing of medicine 11,645 1,394,233 64.39 Korea

AMOS Professional Corp. Marketing of hair care products 3,500 700,000 100.00 Korea

Etude Corporation Manufacturing and marketing of cosmetics 4,650 748,420 80.48 Korea

PACIFICGLAS, Inc. Manufacturing and marketing of glass 5,000 1,000,000 100.00 Korea

Jangwon Co., Ltd. Manufacturing and marketing of green tea 5,000 1,000,000 100.00 Korea

AMOREPACIFIC EUROPE S.A.S Manufacturing and marketingof cosmetics 98,933 58,000,000 100.00 France

AMOREPACIFIC Cosmetics  Manufacturing and marketing of cosmetics 14,274 12,000,000 100.00 China

(Shanghai) Co., Ltd. 

AMOREPACIFIC Trading Co., Ltd. Marketing of cosmetics 9,456 10,000,000 100.00 China

AMOREPACIFIC Cosmetics Manufacturing and marketing of cosmetics 2,218 2,500,000 100.00 China.

(Shenyang) Co., Ltd. (*) 

AMOREPACIFIC Cosmetics Marketing of cosmetics 25,375 25,400,000 100.00 U.S.A

(USA) Inc.

(*)  AMOREPACIFIC Cosmetics (Shenyang) Co., Ltd. will be excluded subsidiaries in 2009 since its total asset as of December 

31, 2008 (less than ￦7,000 million) is considered immaterial to the consolidated financial position and the consolidated 

result of the operations
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies

 
Basis of consolidated financial statements preparation 

The Company maintains its official accounting records in Korean won and prepares statutory consolidated 

financial statements in the Korean language in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 

the Republic of Korea (“Korean GAAP”). Certain accounting principles applied by the Company that conform 

with financial accounting standards and accounting principles in the Republic of Korea may not conform with 

generally accepted accounting principles 

in other countries. Accordingly, these consolidated financial statements are intended for use by those who are 

acknowledged of Korean accounting principles and practices. In the event of any differences in interpreting 

for the regulatory reporting purposes, shall prevail. The accompanying consolidated financial statements 

have been condensed, restructured and translated into English (with certain expanded descriptions) from the 

Korean language consolidated financial statements.

Financial statements translation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements expressed in Korean won, solely for the convenience 

of the reader, have been translated into United States dollars at the rate of ￦1257.5 and ￦938.2 to US$1, 

the exchange rate on December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Such translation should not be construed 

as a representation that the Korean won amounts can actually be converted into United States dollars at the 

exchange rate used for purpose of such translation.

 Adoption of new and revised Statements of Korea Accounting Standards (“SKAS”), Korea 

Financial Accounting Standards (“KFAS”), Korea Financial Accounting Standards Interpretation 

(“KFAS Interpretation”) and Korea Accounting Institute Opinion (“KAI Opinion”)

The Controlling Company has adopted the following new and revised SKAS, KFAS and KAI Opinion for the 

current financial year.

 • SKAS 8 Amendments – Investments in Securities 

 • SKAS 15 Amendments – Investments in Associates 

 • SKAS 16 Amendments – Income taxes

  •  KAI Opinion 06-02 Amendments – Accounting for Recognition of Deferred Income Tax 

Assets/Liabilities Associated with Investments in Subsidiaries, Branches and Associates, and 

Interests in Joint Ventures

c. Financial information of consolidated subsidiaries 

Consolidated subsidiaries’ financial information as of December 31, 2008, is as follow: 

d. Investments in affiliated companies using the equity method of accounting 

Investments in affiliated companies using the equity method of accounting as of December 31, 2008 are as 

follows:

  Total Number of Ownership 

Company Major business equity shares (%) Location

Pacific Metals Co., Ltd. Manufacturing and marketing 15,000 991,392 33.05 Korea

 of magnet

BBDO Korea Inc. Advertising agency 3,000 180,000 30.00 Korea

Anhui Pacific Tea Co., Ltd. (*) Manufacturing and marketing  1,131 1,000,000 80.00 China

 of green tea

AMOREPACIFIC Japan Co., LTD. (*) Marketing of cosmetics 11,547 490,000,000 100.00 Japan

Pacific Japan Co., Ltd. (*) Manufacturing and marketing

  of cosmetics 354 76,200,000 100.00 Japan

AMOREPACIFIC Taiwan Co., Ltd. (*) Marketing of cosmetics 7,577 240,500,000 100.00 Taiwan

Laneige Singapore Pte., Ltd. (*) Marketing of cosmetics 4,149 6,300,376 100.00 Singapore

AMOREPACIFIC RUS CO., LTD. (*) Marketing of cosmetics 2,804 54,200,000 100.00 Russia

LANEIGE MALAYSIA  SDN., BHD. (*) Marketing of cosmetics 1,258 4,480,000 100.00 Malaysia

Taiwan AMORE Co., Ltd. (*) Marketing of cosmetics 131 10,000,000 50.00 Taiwan

AMOREPACIFIC HongKong Co., Limited. (*) Marketing of cosmetics 1,220 26,786 30.00 HongKong

PT. Laneige Indonesia Pacific (*) Marketing of cosmetics 228 210,000 30.00 Indonesia

AMOREPACIFIC (Thailand) LIMITED (*) Marketing of cosmetics 150 6,000,000 30.00 Thailand

   Korean won in millions

  The   

 Total shareholders’   Net income

 assets equity Sales   (loss)

AMOREPACIFIC Corporation 1,455,177 1,115,304 1,531,336 170,235

PACIFICPHARMA Corporation 103,156 69,304 153,379 7,238

AMOS Professional Corp. 25,241 21,290 18,413 2,224

Etude Corporation 38,810 25,866 77,519 7,681

PACIFICGLAS, Inc. 46,886 42,479 46,232 1,245

Jangwon Co., Ltd. 64,144 58,551 9,371 1,904

AMOREPACIFIC EUROPE S.A.S 128,956 54,120 95,897 (20,434)

AMOREPACIFIC Cosmetics (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. 19,767 18,015 8,893 1,130

AMOREPACIFIC Trading Co., Ltd. 30,807 5,447 76,586 3,855

AMOREPACIFIC Cosmetics (Shenyang) Co., Ltd. (*) 4,363 4,362 78 (305)

AMOREPACIFIC Cosmetics (USA) Inc. 9,826 7,218 9,150 (4,123)

 1,927,133 1,421,956 2,026,854 170,650

   Korean won in millions

(*)  These companies were excluded from being the consolidated subsidiaries as their total assets (less than ￦7,000 

million as of December 31, 2007) are immaterial to the consolidated financial position and the consolidated results of 

operations.
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The principal effects of these changes are as follows:

  SKAS 16 Amendments – Income taxes

   The revised standard requires an entity to apply the revised disclosures which enable users 

of the financial statements to have better understanding of the components of income taxes 

reported in the financial statements. These revised disclosures are presented in Note 17.

   KAI Opinion 06-02 Amendments – Accounting for Recognition of Deferred Income Tax 

Assets/Liabilities Associated with Investments in Subsidiaries, Branches and Associates, 

and Interests in Joint Ventures

   The revised opinion requires that when an entity recognizes an asset or liability for temporary 

differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, branches and associates, and interests 

in joint ventures, it shall not differentiate the source of the temporary differences other than 

those arising from the elimination of unrealized gains or losses of inter-company transactions. 

The effect of this change is allowed to be reflected in the entity’s opening balance of retained 

earnings as a current year opening balance adjustment without restating the comparative 

financial statements. The impact of this change has no material effect of increasing the opening 

balance of retained earnings.

Principles of consolidation

The investment accounts of the Controlling Company and the corresponding capital accounts of the 

subsidiaries have been eliminated in consolidation. 

  Differences between the investment accounts and the corresponding capital accounts are 

presented as goodwill or negative goodwill. Goodwill is amortized over twenty years using the straight-

line method commencing at the beginning of the year of acquisition. Negative goodwill arising from 

identifiable tangible assets is amortized over the useful life of those assets. The remaining portion of 

negative goodwill pertaining to unidentifiable assets is immediately credited to current income as a gain. 

  The Company classifies its share of consolidated subsidiaries’ capital surplus and retained 

earnings which occurred after acquiring or gaining control of the subsidiaries into consolidated capital 

surplus and consolidated retained earnings, respectively. In addition, differences between the change of 

the Company’s equity amount in the consolidated subsidiary, caused by the issuance of additional stock 

or stock dividends by the subsidiary, and acquisition cost of the subsidiary are recorded as increase or 

decrease of consolidated capital surplus.

  All significant inter-company transactions and account balances among consolidated companies 

are eliminated from the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Unrealized income included in 

inventories and property, plant and equipment arising from transactions between consolidated companies 

is eliminated based on the average gross profit rates of the selling company. Related accounts receivable 

and accounts payable are also eliminated. Unrealized income arising from sales by the Company to 

subsidiaries is fully eliminated and charged to the equity of the Company. 

Unrealized income arising from sales by subsidiaries to the Controlling Company or between subsidiaries 

is fully eliminated and charged to the equity of the Controlling Company and minority interests in 

proportion to the percentage of ownership. 

  Accounts of foreign subsidiaries are maintained in the currencies of the countries in which they 

conduct operations. In translating their foreign currency financial statements into Korean won, income 

and expenses are translated at the average exchange rate for the year, and assets and liabilities at the 

exchange rate prevailing on the balance sheet date. However, stockholders’ equity is translated using 

historical foreign exchange rates. Overseas translation gains or losses are offset, and the net amount is 

recorded as either an overseas operations translation adjustment debit or credit, presented as an addition 

to or deduction from stockholders' equity (“Accumulated other comprehensive income”).

  Minority interest in consolidated subsidiaries is presented as a separate component of 

stockholders’ equity in the consolidated balance sheets. Losses in excess of minority interests are treated 

as a reduction to stockholders’ equity. If there is a subsequent recovery from the losses in excess of 

minority interests, a reversal of the previous charge to stockholders’ equity is made up to the extent of 

the original amount charged to stockholders’ equity.

  The Company consolidates the financial statements using the Company’s financial statements 

reporting period at December 31 which coincides with the consolidated subsidiaries. 

Cash equivalents

Highly liquid deposits and marketable securities with original maturities of three months or less, and which 

have no significant risk of loss in value by interest rate fluctuations, are considered as cash equivalents.

Financial instruments

Financial instruments, such as time deposits and restricted bank deposits, which are traded by financial 

institutions and are held for short-term cash management purposes or which will mature within one year, 

are accounted for as short-term investments. Financial instruments other than cash equivalents and 

short-term investments are recorded as long-term financial instruments.

Allowance for doubtful accounts

The Company provides an allowance for doubtful accounts in consideration of the estimated losses that 

may arise from non-collection of its receivables. The estimate of losses, if any, is based on a review of the 

aging and current status of the outstanding receivables. 

Inventories 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value, with cost being determined using the 

moving-average method for merchandise, raw materials and supplies, the weighted-average method 

for finished goods, semi-finished goods and work-in-process and the specific identification method for 

materials in-transit. Perpetual inventory system is used to record inventories, in which inventories are 

adjusted to physical inventory counts that are performed at the end of the year. 

  When a decline in the value of an inventory indicates that its cost exceeds net realizable value, 

a valuation loss will be recognized to write the inventory down to its net realizable value. The loss on 

valuation is recognized in cost of sales.
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Investments in securities

Investments in securities within the scope of SKAS 8 Investments in Securities are classified as either 

trading, held-to-maturity and available-for-sale securities, as appropriate, and are initially measured at 

cost, including incidental expenses, with cost being determined using the moving average method. The 

Company determines the classification of its investments after initial recognition, and, where allowed and 

appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at each financial year end. 

  Securities that are acquired and held principally for the purpose of selling them in the near term 

are classified as trading securities. Debt securities which carry fixed or determinable payments and fixed 

maturity are classified as held-to-maturity if the Company has the positive intention and ability to hold to 

maturity. Securities that are not classified as either trading or held-to-maturity are classified as available-

for-sale securities. 

  After initial measurement, available-for-sale securities are measured at fair value with unrealized 

gains or losses being recognized directly in equity in as other comprehensive income. Likewise, trading 

securities are also measured at fair value after initial measurement, but with unrealized gains or losses 

reported as part of net income. Held-to-maturity securities are measured at amortized cost after initial 

measurement. The cost is computed as the amount initially recognized minus principal repayments, plus 

or minus the cumulative amortization using the effective interest method of any difference between the 

initially recognized amount and the maturity amount. 

  The fair value of trading and available-for-sale securities that are traded actively in the open 

market (marketable securities) is measured at the closing price of those securities at the balance sheet 

date, except for non-marketable equity securities which are measured at cost subsequent to initial 

measurement if their fair values cannot be reliably estimated. Non-marketable debt securities are 

carried at a value using the present value of future cash flows discounted using an appropriate interest 

rate which reflects the issuer’s credit rating announced by a public independent credit rating agency. 

If the application of such measurement method is not feasible, estimates of fair values may be made 

using a reasonable valuation model or quoted market prices of similar debt securities issued by entities 

conducting business in similar industries. 

  Trading securities are classified as current assets. Available-for-sale and held-to-maturity 

securities are classified as long-term investments, except that securities maturing within one year or 

are certain to be disposed within one year from the balance sheet date are classified as short-term 

investments. 

  The Company recognizes an impairment loss on its investments in securities if there is objective 

evidence that the securities are impaired. The impairment loss is charged to statement of income.

Equity method investments

Investments in entities over which the Company has control or significant influence are accounted for 

using the equity method.
 

  
Under the equity method of accounting, the Company’s initial investment in an investee is 

recorded at acquisition cost. Subsequently, the carrying amount of the investment is adjusted to reflect 

the Company’s share of income or loss of the investee in the statement of income and share of changes 

in equity that have been recognized directly in the equity of the investee in the related equity account of 

the Company on the balance sheet. If the Company’s share of losses of the investee equal or exceed its 

interest in the investee, it discontinues recognizing its share of further losses. However, if the Company 

has other long-term interests in the investee, it continues recognizing its share of further losses to the 

extent of the carrying amount of such long-term interests. 

  At the date of acquisition, the excess of the cost of the investment over the Company’s share 

of the net fair value of the investee’s identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted for as goodwill which 

is amortized over its useful life of 20 years using the straight-line method. Conversely, negative goodwill 

represents the excess of the Company’s share in the net fair value of the investee’s identifiable assets 

and liabilities over the cost of the investment. Negative goodwill is recorded to the extent of the fair value 

of acquired non-monetary assets and recognized as income using the straight-line method over the 

remaining weighted-average useful life of those acquired non-monetary assets. The amount of negative 

goodwill in excess of the fair value of acquired non-monetary assets is recognized as income immediately. 

The Company’s share in the investee’s unrealized profits and losses resulting from transactions between 

the Company and its investee are eliminated.

  In translating the financial statements of foreign investees into Korean won, assets and liabilities 

are translated at the exchange rate on the balance sheet date and income and expenses are translated at 

the weighted-average exchange rate for the period. All resulting exchange differences are recognized as 

foreign currency translation adjustments in other comprehensive income within equity.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation, except for certain assets 

in existence as of January 1, 1998 which were revalued in accordance with the Korean Assets Revaluation 

Law and are stated at revalued amount less accumulated depreciation. The revaluation is no longer 

allowed effective from January 1, 2001.

  Maintenance and repairs are expensed in the year in which they are incurred. Expenditures 

which enhance the value or extend the useful life of the related assets are capitalized. Depreciation of 

property, plant and equipment is provided using the following depreciation method over the estimated 

useful life of the assets as follows:

 Years Depreciation method

Buildings 1 ~ 60 Straight-line method

Structures 1 ~ 40 "

Machinery 1 ~ 30 Declining-balance method

Vehicles 4 ~ 8 "

Tools 3 ~ 15 "

Furniture and fixtures 2 ~ 15 "

Trees 19 ~ 35 "

Others 10 "
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Foreign currency translation

Transactions involving foreign currencies are recorded at the exchange rates prevailing at the time the 

transactions are made. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated 

into Korean won at the appropriate exchange rates on the balance sheet date. The resulting unrealized 

foreign currency translation gains or losses are credited or charged to current operations. Non-monetary 

currency is translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions.

Severance and retirement benefits

In accordance with the Employee Retirement Benefit Security Act (“ERBSA”) and the Company’s 

employee benefits policy, employees terminating their employment with at least one year of service 

are entitled to severance and retirement benefits, based on the rates of pay in effect at the time of 

termination, years of service and certain other factors. The provision for the years ended December 

31, 2008 and 2007 is sufficient to state the liability at the estimated obligation arising from services 

performed to and at rates of pay in effect as of December 31, 2008 and 2007. Separate funding of this 

liability is not required by Korean law. 

  The lesser of 5% of annual payroll expense or 35% of the accumulated severance and 

retirement benefits provision is deductible for corporate income tax reporting purposes unless benefits 

are actually paid or the non tax-deducted portion is deposited with financial institutions. Accordingly, the 

Company has deposited a portion of its severance and retirement benefits obligation with an insurance 

company. Since the Company’s employees are individually nominated as the vested beneficiaries of the 

deposit in respect of what is due to them as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, such deposit has been 

offset against the Company’s liability for severance and retirement benefits as of such dates.

  In accordance with the Korean National Pension Law prior to revision, the Company had prepaid 

a portion of its severance and retirement benefits obligation to the National Pension Service (“NPS”) at 

the rate of 3% of payroll expense up through March 31, 1999. Such prepayments have been offset against 

the Company’s liability for severance and retirement benefits. In accordance with a revision in the Korean 

National Pension Law, additions to these prepayments are no longer required effective from April 1, 1999.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized upon when significant risk and rewards of ownership 

of goods have passed to the buyer. Revenue from services is recognized by reference to the stage of 

completion. Revenue received from transactions where the Company acts as an agent without assuming 

the risks and rewards of ownership of the goods are recognized on a net basis.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets are stated at cost, net of accumulated amortization. Intangible assets are amortized 

using the straight-line method over the following lives of the assets.

Provision for sales returns

The Company estimates the expected returns of goods sold based on the Company’s historical experience 

and provide provision for sales returns based on certain percentage of the gross margin of sales returns. 

Income taxes

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount 

expected to be recovered or paid to the tax authorities. Deferred income taxes are provided using the 

liability method for the tax effect of temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities 

and their reported amounts in the financial statements. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are 

measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected 

to reverse, and are classified as current or non-current, respectively, based on the classification of the 

related asset or liability in the balance sheet. In addition, current tax and deferred tax are charged or 

credited directly to equity if the tax relates to items that are credited or charged directly to equity.

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are computed by dividing net income (Controlling Company interest in earnings) 

by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings 

per share are calculated by dividing net income by the weighted-average number of common shares 

outstanding during the year plus the weighted-average number of common shares that would have been 

outstanding assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential common shares.

Significant judgments and accounting estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with Korean GAAP requires 

management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets 

and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial 

statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual 

results could differ from those estimates.

Reclassifications

Certain amounts in the 2007 consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to conform with 

the 2008 presentation. Such reclassifications had no effect on the Company’s net income and retained 

earning as previously reported.

3.  Restricted deposits

The long-term financial instruments amounting to ￦24 million as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 are 

restricted deposits placed with banks as guarantee deposits for the maintenance of checking accounts.

 Years

Intellectual property rights 5 ~ 10

Development costs 10

Software 5

Goodwill 5 ~ 20

Others 50

Negative goodwill 29
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The details of changes in carrying amount of equity method investments for the years ended December 

31, 2008 and 2007 are as follows:  

    2008                

 Ownership Acquisition Book  Proportionate

 (%) cost value net value

Pacific Metals Co., Ltd 33.05 5,233 18,195 18,195

BBDO Korea Inc. 30.00 949 4,165 4,165

Anhui Pacific Tea Co., Ltd. 80.00 786 774 941

AMOREPACIFIC Japan Co., Ltd. 100.00 11,547 - (1,748)

Pacific Japan Co., Ltd. 100.00 354 2,041 2,112

AMOREPACIFIC Taiwan Co., Ltd. 100.00 7,577 1,880 2,099

Laneige Singapore Pte., Ltd. 100.00 4,149 702 791

AMOREPACIFIC RUS CO., LTD. 100.00 2,804 1,208 1,169

LANEIGE MALAYSIA SDN., BHD. 100.00 1,258 347 450

Taiwan AMORE Co., Ltd. 50.00 131 1,371 1,371

AMOREPACIFIC HongKong Co., Limited. 30.00 1,220 2,283 2,808

PT. Laneige Indonesia Pacific 30.00 228 - (19)

AMOREPACIFIC (Thailand) LIMITED 30.00 150 65 65

  36,386 33,031 32,399

    2007                

 Ownership Acquisition Book  Proportionate

 (%) cost value net value

Pacific Metals Co., Ltd. 33.05 5,233 17,040 17,040

BBDO Korea Inc. 30.00 949 4,449 4,449

Anhui Pacific Tea Co., Ltd. 80.00 786 687 927

AMOREPACIFIC Japan Co., LTD. 100.00 10,183 1,904 2,090

Pacific Japan Co., Ltd. 100.00 354 1,115 1,115

AMOREPACIFIC Taiwan Co., Ltd. 100.00 6,722 1,796 1,796

Laneige Singapore Pte., Ltd. 100.00 3,145 313 313

AMOREPACIFIC RUS CO., LTD. 100.00 1,882 1,240 1,240

LANEIGE MALAYSIA SDN., BHD. 100.00 749 370 371

Taiwan AMORE Co., Ltd. 50.00 131 1,243 1,243

AMOREPACIFIC HongKong Co., Limited. 30.00 1,220 1,383 1,720

PT. Laneige Indonesia Pacific 30.00 228 57 56

AMOREPACIFIC (Thailand) LIMITED 30.00 150 76 75

  31,732 31,673 32,435

    2008

    Equity in   

    earnings Changes in  

 Jan. 1,   (losses) of  capital Dec. 31,

 2008 Acquisition Dividends investee adjustment 2008

Pacific Metals Co., Ltd. 17,040 - (429) 1,584 - 18,195

BBDO Korea Inc. 4,449 - (900) 616 - 4,165

Anhui Pacific Tea Co., Ltd. 687 - - (261) 348 774

AMOREPACIFIC Japan Co., LTD. 1,904 1,364 - (3,268) - -

Pacific Japan Co., Ltd. 1,115 - - 119 807 2,041

AMOREPACIFIC Taiwan Co., LTD. 1,796 855 - (1,341) 570 1,880

Laneige Singapore Pte., Ltd. 313 1,004 - (838) 223 702

AMOREPACIFIC RUS CO., LTD. 1,240 922 - (1,011) 57 1,208

LANEIGE MALAYSIA SDN., BHD. 370 510 - (637) 104 347

Taiwan AMORE Co., Ltd. 1,243 - (406) 134 400 1,371

AMOREPACIFIC HongKong Co., Limited.  1,383 - (187) 522 565 2,283

PT. Laneige Indonesia Pacific 57 - - (72) 15 -

AMOREPACIFIC (Thailand) LIMITED 76 - - (20) 9 65

 31,673 4,655 (1,922) (4,473) 3,098 33,031

     2007

    Equity in

    earnings Changes Changes in

 Jan. 1,   (losses) of in capital consolidated Dec. 31,

 2007 Acquisition Dividends investees adjustments subsidiaries 2007

Pacific Metals Co., Ltd. 16,072 - - 968 - - 17,040

BBDO Korea Inc. 4,362 - (900) 987 - - 4,449

Anhui Pacific Tea Co., Ltd. 837 - (60) (232) 142 - 687

AMOREPACIFIC Cosmetics (Shenyang) Co., Ltd.  6,332 - - 50 1,354 (7,736) -

AMOREPACIFIC Japan Co., LTD. 3,135 2,399 - (5,263) 1,633 - 1,904

Pacific Japan Co., Ltd. 1,059 - - 69 (13) - 1,115

AMOREPACIFIC Taiwan Co., Ltd. 1,453 1,421 - (720) (358) - 1,796

Laneige Singapore Pte., Ltd. 350 612 - (960) 311 - 313

AMOREPACIFIC RUS CO., LTD 292 1,590 - (397) (245) - 1,240

LANEIGE MALAYSIA SDN.,BHD.       351 398 - (406) 27 - 370

Taiwan AMORE Co., Ltd. 1,351 - (278) (217) 387 - 1,243

AMOREPACIFIC HongKong Co., Limited. 1,341 - (180) 179 43 - 1,383

PT. Laneige Indonesia Pacific  81 - - (24) - - 57

AMOREPACIFIC (Thailand) LIMITED 98 - - (47) 25 - 76

 37,114 6,420 (1,418) (6,013) 3,306 (7,736) 31,673

4.  Inventories

Inventories as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 consist of the following:

  2008 2007

Merchandise  24,078 23,914

Finished goods  79,784 62,479

Semi-finished goods and work-in-process            20,238  15,210

Raw materials   57,730 45,386 

Supplies  2,496 1,551

Materials in-transit  8,133 6,471

  192,459 155,011

5.  Equity method investments

Investments in equity securities accounted for using the equity method as of December 31, 2008 and 

2007 are as follows:

   Korean won in millions

   Korean won in millions

   Korean won in millions
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The details of changes in equity in earnings (losses) of investees for the years ended December 31, 2008 

and 2007 are as follows: 

               2008

   Elimination  

 Proportionate Amortization of unrealized  

 earnings (reversal) gains (losses) Total

Pacific Metals Co., Ltd. 1,584 - - 1,584

BBDO Korea Inc. 616 - - 616

Anhui Pacific Tea Co., Ltd. (335) 74 - (261)

AMOREPACIFIC Japan Co., LTD. (3,268) - - (3,268)

Pacific Japan Co., Ltd. 119 - - 119

AMOREPACIFIC Taiwan Co., Ltd. (1,341) - - (1,341)

Laneige Singapore Pte., Ltd. (838) - - (838)

AMOREPACIFIC RUS CO., LTD. (1,011) - - (1,011)

LANEIGE MALAYSIA., SDN, BHD. (637) - - (637)

Taiwan AMORE Co., Ltd. 134 - - 134

AMOREPACIFIC HongKong Co., Limited. 522 - - 522

PT. Laneige Indonesia Pacific (72) - - (72)

AMOREPACIFIC (Thailand) LIMITED (20) - - (20)

 (4,547) 74 - (4,473)

                2007

   Elimination  

 Proportionate Amortization of unrealized  

 earnings (reversal) gains (losses) Total

Pacific Metals Co., Ltd. 894 74 - 968

BBDO Korea Inc. 987 - - 987

Anhui Pacific Tea Co., Ltd. (307) 75 - (232)

AMOREPACIFIC Cosmetics (Shenyang) Co., Ltd. 50 - - 50

AMOREPACIFIC Japan Co., LTD. (5,079) - (184) (5,263)

Pacific Japan Co., Ltd. 69 - - 69

AMOREPACIFIC Taiwan Co., Ltd. (720) - - (720)

Laneige Singapore Pte., Ltd. (960) - - (960)

AMOREPACIFIC RUS CO., LTD. (397) - - (397)

LANEIGE MALAYSIA SDN., BHD. (406) - - (406)

Taiwan AMORE Co., Ltd. (217) - - (217)

AMOREPACIFIC HongKong Co., Limited. 674 (129) (366) 179

PT. Laneige Indonesia Pacific (24) - - (24)

AMOREPACIFIC (Thailand) LIMITED (47) - - (47)

 (5,483) 20 (550) (6,013)

The summary of financial position of the investees as of December 31, 2008, and the results of their 

operations for the related periods, is presented as follows:

 Total Total  Net income Proportionate

 assets liabilities Sales (loss) earnings

Pacific Metals Co., Ltd. (*1) 60,778 5,719 50,237 4,795 1,584

BBDO Korea Inc. (*1) 37,193 23,311 15,674 2,054 616

Anhui Pacific Tea Co., Ltd. (*2) 1,176 - 131 (418) (335)

AMOREPACIFIC Japan Co., LTD. (*2) 3,702 5,450 3,788 (5,599) (3,268)

Pacific Japan Co., Ltd. (*2) 3,614 1,502 15,800 191 119

AMOREPACIFIC Taiwan Co., Ltd. (*2) 3,327 1,228 4,005 (1,142) (1,341)

Laneige Singapore Pte., Ltd. (*2) 1,061 270 2,142 (754) (838)

AMOREPACIFIC RUS CO., LTD. (*2) 1,231 61 66 (960) (1,011)

LANEIGE MALAYSIA SDN., BHD. (*2) 873 423 932 (443) (637)

Taiwan AMORE Co., Ltd. (*2) 3,849 915 5,364 609 134

AMOREPACIFIC HongKong Co., Limited. (*2) 15,584 6,223 18,132 2,239 522

PT. Laneige Indonesia Pacific (*2) 550 611 424 (211) (72)

AMOREPACIFIC (Thailand) LIMITED (*2) 583 366 1,927 (66) (20)

 133,521 46,079 118,622 295 (4,547)

(*1)  Audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2008 were used for the investees.

(*2)  As reliable financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2008 were not available for the investees, such 

investments were presented based on the unaudited financial statements as of December 31, 2008.

In connection with the above unaudited financial statements, the Company has performed the following 

procedures to determine the reliability of such financial statements.

a. Obtained the financial statements signed by the Chief Executive Officer of the investees.

b.  Read the financial statements to understand whether important transactions or events that may have 

material accounting implications, either publicly announced or otherwise known to the Company, are 

reflected in the financial statements. 

   Korean won in millions    Korean won in millions
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6. Available-for-sale securities

Available-for-sale securities as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 are as follows: 

Changes in the net book value of property, plant and equipment for the year ended December 31, 2008 

and 2007 are as follows: 

      2008

   Changes from

  Jan. 1, discontinuing     Dec. 31,

  2008 operations Additions Disposals Transfers Depreciation 2008

Land 504,806 1,080 17,488 (7,617) 49,695 - 565,452

Buildings 197,485 4,166 2,021 (5,633) 26,318 (8,910) 215,447

Structures 15,221 209 693 (2) 1,340 (1,891) 15,570

Machinery  44,791 2,344 6,667 (194) 9,858 (17,305) 46,161

Vehicles 645 85 299 (158) - (319) 552

Tools 22,390 (203) 17,683 (185) 936 (12,531) 28,090

Furniture

and fixture 79,885 1,636 52,691 (868) 1,906 (35,698) 99,552

Trees 4,327 - - (63) - (355) 3,909

Construction in-progress 133,275 121 116,910 - (87,104) - 163,202

Machinery in-transit 798 - 4,122 - (2,949) - 1,971

Other 1,177 355 - - - (283) 1,249

Total 1,004,800 9,793 218,574 (14,720) - (77,292) 1,141,155

         

      2007

   Changes in    

  Jan. 1, consolidated     Dec. 31,

  2007 subsidiaries Additions Disposals Transfers Depreciation 2007

Land 504,761 - 74,846 (23,160) (51,641) - 504,806

Buildings 181,475 - 5,769 (1,705) 20,324 (8,378) 197,485

Structures 15,079 199 1,815 (105) (106) (1,661) 15,221

Machinery  48,605 - 3,585 (299) 11,913 (19,013) 44,791

Vehicles 669 119 327 (21) 68 (517) 645

Tools 18,547 - 8,447 (401) 6,307 (10,510) 22,390

Furniture and fixture 66,776 101 41,749 (729) 1,629 (29,641) 79,885

Trees 4,838 (323) - (124) 223 (287) 4,327

Construction in-progress 95,205 - 72,394 - (34,324) - 133,275

Machinery in-transit 858 - 2,511 - (2,571) - 798

Other 1,354 3,472 1 - (3,463) (187) 1,177

Total 938,167 3,568 211,444 (26,544) (51,641) (70,194) 1,004,800

In 2003, the Company sold its land located in Yongin for ￦23,217 million. On July 25, 2006, the 

Company sold its land located in Osan for ￦83,971 million, in accordance to an agreement entered with 

Yangbaek Development Co., Ltd. The combined amounts of the two sales totally ￦107,188 million have 

been recorded as long-term advances received in non-current liabilities. The land located in Osan city is 

provided as collateral and trusted to Korea Real Estate Investment Trust Co., Ltd. for the borrowings of 

Yangbaek Development Co., Ltd.

  However, the Company has not obtained the official approval of the above two land transactions 

from the Osan municipal authority as of December 31, 2007. Therefore, the Company recorded the book 

value of the land amounting to ￦50,556 million as an investment in land in non-current assets. 

  The amount of ￦1,062 million as part of this investment in land in non-current assets was sold 

to the Korean Government in 2008. As a result, the Company incurred gains on disposal of investments 

amounting to ￦675 million in other income.

     2008 2007

  Equity interest Acquisition Carrying  Carrying

  held (%) cost value value

Marketable securities: 

 Crystal Genomics Co., Ltd. 0.66 901 586 1,477

 Hanall Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. 3.31 2,975 2,795 -

Non-marketable securities:

 The Korea Economics Daily Co., Ltd. 0.08 75 81 81

 Solomon Investment Bank Co., Ltd. 2.18 3,451 3,325 3,325

 GL Pharm Tech Co., Ltd. 12.27 176 191 191

 Welskin Co., Ltd. 8.33 100 48 48

 MEDY-TOX Co., Ltd. 4.35 400 969 100

 Biovigen Co., Ltd. 7.51 1,201 - -

 Biogenics Co., Ltd. 10.98 1,000 1,000 -

 EntoPharm Co., Ltd. 2.69 540 -  -

 HVLS Co., Ltd 2.28 500 500   500

 Virtual MD Co., Ltd 5.52 500 - -

 NewCore Co., Ltd. - 1 3 3

 Others - 80 - -

Investment in partnerships - 2 2 235

Government and municipal bonds - 2,760 2,760 2,414

   14,662 12,260 8,374

   Korean won in millions

7. Property, plant and equipment

Details of property, plant and equipment as of December 31, 2008 are as follows: 

   Accumulated  

  Costs depreciation Net book value

Land 565,452 - 565,452

Buildings 293,101 (77,654) 215,447

Structures 26,764 (11,194) 15,570

Machinery 154,545 (108,384) 46,161

Vehicles 2,774 (2,222) 552

Tools 104,051 (75,961) 28,090

Furniture and fixtures 300,769 (201,217) 99,552

Trees 4,534 (625) 3,909

Construction in-progress 163,202 - 163,202

Machinery in-transit 1,971 - 1,971

Other 3,032 (1,783) 1,249

  1,620,195 (479,040) 1,141,155

   Korean won in millions

Korean won in millions

The value of the Company’s land, as determined by the Government of the Republic of Korea for tax administration 

purposes, amounted to ￦649,543 million and ￦531,807 million as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. 
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8. Intangible assets

Changes in the net book value of intangible assets for the year ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 are 

as follows:

    2008

 Jan. 1,   Reversal  Dec. 31,

 2008 Additions Disposal (amortization)  Other 2008

Intellectual property rights 2,839 1,130 - (1,006) 292 3,255

Development costs 7,015 - - (661) (6,124) 230

Software 14,661 4,473 - (5,575) 578 14,137

Goodwill 567,236 - - (31,461) (3,617) 532,158

Others 1,001 9,373 (295) (729) (5,464) 3,886

Negative goodwill (97,857) - - 351 - (97,506)

 494,895 14,976 (295) (39,081) (14,335) 456,160

The amount of ￦85,394 million as part of negative goodwill, which originated from the merger with 

Jangwon Co. Ltd. in 2005, is being amortized over a period of 29 years using the straight-line method for 

amortized assets, non-amortized assets, in which, the negative goodwill is amortized when disposed.

12. Commitments and contingencies

As of December 31, 2008, the Company maintains various lines of credit such as bank overdrafts 

amounting to ￦14,700 million, L/C openings totalling US$8 million and total receivables to the extent 

of ￦35,000 million with Woori Bank. The Company is contingently liable for ￦7,391 million of trade 

accounts and notes receivable factored with recourse as of December 31, 2008.

  In October 2003, the Company entered into a land purchase agreement with the municipal 

government of Osan, Gyeonggi Province. In accordance with the agreement, the Company, for the year 

ending December 31, 2004, has been refunded its advance payments in the amount of ￦11,200 million, 

which was recorded as long-term advance payments in non-current assets.

11. Severance and retirement benefits

Changes in net carrying amount of severance and retirement benefits for the years ended December 31, 

2008 and 2007 are as follows: 

   2008 2007

As of January 1,  110,747 105,495

Provisions during the year  26,307 27,527

Payments during the year               (23,054)           (22,677)

Succession of retirement benefits from affiliated companies  462 402

   114,462 110,747

Less:

 Deposits for severance and retirement benefits (81,091) (77,547)

 Prepayments to the National Pension Service (1,129) (1,403)

As of December 31,  32,242 31,797

   Korean won in millions

       2007

  Changes in

 Jan. 1, consolidated  Reversal   Dec. 31,

 2007 subsidiaries Additions (amortization)  Other 2007

Intellectual property rights 3,457 - 297 (915) - 2,839

Development costs 7,570 401 2,419 (3,375) - 7,015

Software 12,398 1,291 5,408 (4,436) - 14,661

Goodwill 582,166 1,112 1,691 (29,423) 11,690 567,236

Others 709 - 743 (451) - 1,001

Negative goodwill (98,401) - - 544 - (97,857)

 507,899 2,804 10,558 (38,056) 11,690 494,895

   Korean won in millions

9. Insurance

Insurance coverage under major insurance policies carried by the Company as of December 31, 2008 and 

2007 are as follows:

  Coverage amount 

Insured assets Policy 2008 2007

Inventories and property Fire insurance 899,396 837,012

In addition, the Company maintains fidelity insurance for directors and employees, and casualty insurance 

for vehicles and industrial accidents.

   Korean won in millions

10. Short-term borrowings

Short-term borrowings denominated in foreign currencies as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 are as 

follows:

Financial institution Annual interest rate  2008 2007

Societe Generale Banque and others 5.89% ~ 7.09% 25,499 19,300

  (EUR 14,356) (EUR 13,973)

Korean won in millions and euros in thousands

Korean won in millions
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As December 31, 2008, the Company is provided with guarantees by Seoul Guarantee Insurance 

amounting to ￦1,444 million for fidelity bond, escrow deposits and contract implementations.

 

The Company entered into an agreement to purchase Lamisil exclusively from Novatis Korea Ltd. which 

started from March, 1999, and also entered into an agreement to purchase Botolium exclusively from 

Medi-tox Co. Ltd. which started in December, 2003.

13. Capital stock

There is no change in the Company’s capital stock for the year ended December 31, 2008. Details of 

capital stock of the Company as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 are as follows:

14. Capital surplus

Details of the Company’s capital surplus as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 are as follows:

Paid-in capital in excess of par value

Paid-in capital in excess of par value may not be utilized for cash dividends, but may used to offset a 

future deficit, if any, or may be transferred to capital stock.

Asset revaluation surplus

The Company revalued certain of its property, plant and equipment in accordance with the Korean Asset 

Revaluation Act on January 1, 1998, resulting in a revaluation surplus of ￦172,887 million, net of related 

income tax effect of ￦5,286 million. The asset revaluation surplus may not be utilized for cash dividend, 

but may used to offset a future deficit, if any, or may be transferred to capital stock.

15. Capital adjustments

Details of the Company’s capital adjustments as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 are as follows:

Loss resulting from capital reduction

On June 1, 2006, the Company recorded a loss resulting from capital reduction amounting to ￦507,841 

million at the time of the split-off of AMOREPACIFIC Corporation. The loss resulting from capital reduction 

was offset against retained earnings at the stockholders’ meeting on February 27, 2007.

16. Retained earnings

The Company’s retained earnings as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 are as follows:

Description 2008 2007

Number of shares authorized 36,000,000 36,000,000

Par value per share 5,000 5,000

Number of common stocks issued 7,979,098 7,979,098

Number of preferred stocks issued 911,097 911,097

  

Details of preferred stocks of the Company as of December 31, 2008 are as follows:

 Dividend payout ratio Number of shares Description

Preferred stock 1 Common stock dividend +1% 644,377 Non-participating and non-cumulative

Preferred stock 2 Max (Common stock dividend or 3%)  266,720 Participating and cumulative

       911,097

 2008 2007

Treasury stock 133,330 133,330

Others 1,974 -

  135,304 133,330

Treasury stock

The Company purchased its common and preferred stocks when merging with PACIFICGLAS, Inc. and 

Jangwon Co., Ltd. in 2005. The Company also purchased its common and preferred stocks to stabilize its 

stock price through the specified money trust and treasury stock fund. 

Changes in treasury stock for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 are as follows:

 2008 2007

Paid-in capital in excess of par value              673,096 673,096

Asset revaluation surplus 172,887 172,887

Others 5,445 3,695

 851,428 849,678

Korean won in millions

Korean won in millions

  2008  2007

 Number of shares Amount   Number of shares   Amount

As of January 1, 568,491 133,330 580,952 134,442

Disposal - - (12,461) (901)

Others - - - (211)

As of December 31, 568,491 133,330 568,491 133,330

Korean won in millions

   2008 2007

Appropriated:

 Legal reserve  28,615 28,615

 Business rationalization reserve 25,560 25,560

 Financial structure improvement reserve 9,966 9,966

 Technology development reserve 71,651 71,651

 Others  332,159 290,159

   467,951 425,951

Unappropriated  84,440 67,715

   552,391 493,666

Korean won in millions
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Legal reserve

In accordance with the Korean Commercial Code, an amount equal to at least 10% of cash dividends is 

required to be appropriated as a legal reserve until the reserve equals 50% of paid-in capital. The legal 

reserve may not be utilized for cash dividends but may only be used to offset a deficit, if any, or be 

transferred to capital.

Business rationalization reserve 

Prior to December 2002, in accordance with the Korean Tax Incentives Limitation Law (“TILL”), the 

amounts of tax credits or exemptions taken under this law were appropriated as a reserve for business 

rationalization. Such reserve could not be utilized for cash dividends but could be used to offset an 

accumulated deficit, if any, or be transferred to paid-in capital. Effective from December 2002, such 

reserve is no longer required by the revised TILL.

Technology development reserve

Under the TILL, the reserve for technology development is provided to obtain tax benefit in the year the 

appropriations are proposed. This reserve may be reversed after the lapse of specified periods prescribed 

in the TILL. This reserve may be utilized for cash dividends only after reverting it to retained earnings.

17. Income taxes

A reconciliation of provision for income taxes applicable to income before taxes at the Korea statutory 

tax rate to provision for income taxes at the effective income tax rate of the Company is as follow: 

          2008

Income before income taxes from continuing operations  266,133

Tax at the statutory income tax rate of 27.49%  73,156

Adjustment: 

 Income not subject to tax   (3,422)

 Expenses not deductible for tax purposes  12,199

 Deferred tax assets not recognized  2,728

 Tax deduction   (4,022)

 Differences of tax rates and others  (14,765)

Provision for income taxes from continuing operations

 at the effective income tax rate 24.75%  65,874

Income tax attributable to a discontinuing operation  6,951

Provision for income taxes at the effective income tax rate 24.02%  58,923

Significant changes in the cumulative temporary differences for the year ended December 31, 2008 are 

as follows:

Korean won in millions

   Changes in    Deferred income tax

  Jan. 1, consolidated After Net increase Dec. 31, assets (liabilities) 

  2008 subsidiaries adjustments (decrease) 2008 Current  Non-current

Allowance for doubtful

 accounts 1,580 131 1,711 (401) 1,310 317 -

Provision for sales returns 16,581 1,686 18,267 1,679 19,946 - 4,388

Severance and retirement   

 benefits 842 (14) 828 (807) 21 - 4 

Available-for-sale securities 3,385 (1) 3,384 (2,124) 1,260 - 277

Equity method investments (143,793) (218) (144,011) (26,853) (170,864) - (50,996)

Treasury stock (107,355) - (107,355) - (107,355) - (23,618)

Others (165,931) 99,997 (65,934) 20,859 (45,075) (4,571) 5,128

  (394,691) 101,581 (293,110) (7,647) (300,757) (4,254) (64,817)

Korean won in millions

The major components of provisions for income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 

are as follows:

(*)  Income taxes are directly recognized to gains or losses on available-for-sale securities and equity method investments in 

accordance with Korean GAAP.

  2008 2007

Current income taxes payable 101,998 54,888

Additional income taxes paid for prior period 2,419 912

        104,417 55,800

Adjustments:

 Changes in deferred income taxes arising from temporary differences (47,350) 12,493

 Current and deferred income tax recognized directly to equity (*) 1,856 (1,953)

 Changes in deferred income tax by the split-off - 15,648

 Others - (13)

Total provision for income taxes 58,923 81,975

Income taxes attributable to a discontinuing operation 6,951 688

Provision for income taxes from continuing operations 65,874 82,663

Korean won in millions
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              2008  2007

  Net income  Net income  

  from continuing  from continuing     

  operations Net income operations Net income

Net income 75,727 70,805 55,522 55,035

Preferred stock 1 dividends (941) (941) (941) (941)

Preferred stock 2 dividends (387) (387) (387) (387)

Net income attributable to common stock (A) 74,399 69,477 54,194 53,707

Weighted-average number of shares of common

 stock outstanding (B) 7,427,596 7,427,596 7,424,387 7,424,387

Basic earnings per share (Korean won in units) (A/B) 10,017 9,354 7,299 7,234

Korean won in millions

              2008  2007

  Net income  Net income  

  from continuing  from continuing     

  operations Net income operations Net income

Net income attributable to common stock 74,399 69,477 54,194 53,707

Preferred stock 2 dividends 387 387 387 387

Net income attributable to common stock 

 adjusted for the effect of dilution (A)    74,786 69,864 54,581 54,094

Weighted-average number of shares of common

 stock outstanding 7,427,596 7,427,596 7,424,387 7,424,387

Adjustment for assumed exercise of stock options 266,720 266,720 266,720 266,720

Weighted-average number of shares of common

 outstanding adjusted for the effect of dilution (B) 7,694,316 7,694,316 7,691,107 7,691,107

Diluted earnings per share(Korean won in units) (A/B)     9,720 9,080 7,097 7,033

Korean won in millions

18. Earnings per share

The Company’s earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 are computed as 

follows:

Basic earnings per share (Controlling company interest)

Diluted earnings per share (Controlling company interest)

19. Comprehensive income 

The Company’s comprehensive income for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 are as follows:

20. Dividends

Details of dividends declared by the Controlling Company for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 

2007 are as follows:

   2008

  Common stock Preferred stock 1 Preferred stock 2

Par value 5,000 5,000 5,000

Dividend payout ratio 29% 30% 29%

Dividend per share 1,450 1,500 1,450

Shares entitled to dividends 7,427,596 627,388 266,720

Dividends 10,770 941 387

   2007

  Common stock Preferred stock 1 Preferred stock 2

Par value 5,000 5,000 5,000

Dividend payout ratio 29% 30% 29%

Dividend per share 1,450 1,500 1,450

Shares entitled to dividends 7,427,596 627,388 266,720 

Dividends 10,770 941 387

   2008

  Common stock Preferred stock 1 Preferred stock 2

Dividend per share (A) 1,450 1,500 1,450

Market value per share at balance sheet date (B) 105,000 27,500 136,500

Dividend yield ratio (A/B) 1.38% 5.45% 1.06%

   2007

  Common stock Preferred stock 1 Preferred stock 2 

Dividend per share (A) 1,450 1,500 1,450

Market value per share at balance sheet date (B) 155,500 68,100 103,000

Dividend yield ratio (A/B) 0.93% 2.20% 1.41%

The dividend payout ratio for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 are as follows:

   2008 2007

Dividends (A)  12,098 12,098

Net income (B)  70,805 55,052

Dividend payout ratio (A/B)  17.09% 21.98%

The dividend payout ratio for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 are as follows:

  2008 2007

Net income 186,356 175,601

Other comprehensive income:

 Capital adjustment arising from equity method investments - credit 3,109 2,411

 Capital adjustment arising from equity method investments - debit - 164

  Overseas translation gains 23,718 6,396

  Gain (loss) on valuation of available-for-sale securities 514 (6,160)

Net other comprehensive income 27,341 2,811

Attributable to:  

 Stockholders of the parents 77,387 52,238

 Minority interest 136,310 126,174

Comprehensive income 213,697 178,412

Korean won in millions

Korean won in millions

Korean won in millions

Korean won in millions
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21. Intercompany transactions

The Company’s earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 are computed as 

follows:

   2008

Selling company Purchasing company Sales Purchases Receivables Payables

PACIFIC Corporation AMOREPACIFIC Corporation 1,364 66 425 64

  PACIFICPHARMA Corporation 1,247 - 423 296

  AMOS Professional Corp. 282 - 27 133

  PACIFICGLAS, Inc. 7 - 8 -

  Jangwon Co., Ltd. 1 - 2 -

AMOREPACIFIC Corporation PACIFIC Corporation 66  1,364 64 425

  PACIFICPHARMA Corporation 1,525 30,444 643 1,845

  AMOS Professional Corp. 5,996 34 1,176 67

  Etude Corporation 8,618 1,640 1,085 257

  PACIFICGLAS, Inc. 154 25,446 10 4,842

  Jangwon Co., Ltd. 24 9,007 2 951

  Foreign subsidiaries 21,952 15,572 7,338 20,699

   41,236 83,573 11,203 29,579

   2007

Selling company Purchasing company Sales Purchases Receivables Payables

PACIFIC Corporation AMOREPACIFIC Corporation 7,234 90 489 61

  PACIFICPHARMA Corporation 1,124 - 379 296

  AMOS Professional Corp. 283 - 24 133

  PACIFICGLAS, Inc. 4 - 4 -

  Jangwon Co., Ltd. 1 - 2 -

AMOREPACIFIC PACIFIC Corporation 90 7,234 61 489

Corporation PACIFICPHARMA Corporation 1,391 20,721 3,798 1,352

  AMOS Professional Corp. 5,490 283 791 67

  Etude Corporation 13,105 1,234 1,357 188

  PACIFICGLAS Inc. 121 14,575 15 2,646

  Jangwon Co., Ltd. 27 9,057 3 -

  Foreign subsidiaries 14,360 12,799 3,929 2,074

   43,230 65,993 10,852 7,306

AMOREPACIFIC Corporation has provided a guarantee for the short-term borrowings to AMOREPACIFIC EUROPE S.A.S. amounting to 

￦59,290 million and ￦40,663 million as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively; and to AMOREPACIFIC Japan amounting to 

￦7,000 million as of December 31, 2008.

22. Related party disclosures 

Significant transactions and outstanding balances as of and for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 

2007 with related parties are as follows: 

23. Contributions to society 

Contributions to society made by the Company for the years ended December 31, 2008, and 2007 are as 

follows:

Korean won in millions

    2008

Company Relationship Sales Purchases Receivables Payables

BBDO Korea Inc. Affiliate 453 5,169 1 1,100

Taeshin Inpack Corporation Other - 37,368 - 4,446

   453 42,537 1 5,546

    2007

Company Relationship Sales Purchases Receivables Payables

BBDO Korea Inc. Affiliate - 10,018 - 1,840

Taeshin Inpack Corporation Other - 49,901 - 5,500

   - 59,919 - 7,340

Korean won in millions

 2008 2007

Donation to nursing home, facilities 772 748

Others 2,184 1,929 

  2,956 2,677

The Company provided housing loans to employees, as well as financial aid for educational expenses for the employees’ children.

24. Environmental policy

In relation to manufacturing skin care and other beauty products, the Company has focused on the 

management system to evaluate, manage and improve environmental conditions. As a result, the Company 

received the ISO 14001 certificate. The expenditures for environmental improvement of the Company 

amounted to ￦2,989 million and ￦2,668 million for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, 

respectively.

25. Training and recruiting expenses 

The Company’s employee training and recruiting expenses amounted to ￦8,203 million and ￦8,492 

million for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Korean won in millions
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26. Segment information

The Company has two reportable operating segments – cosmetics and others. The segments are 

internally classified with regard to the attributes of the major products.

  The following table provides information for each operating segment as of and for the years 

ended December 31, 2008 and 2007:

27. Geographical segment information

The Company has two reportable operating segments – cosmetics and others. The segments are internally 

classified with regard to the attributes of the major products.

  The following table provides information for each operating segment as of and for the years 

ended December 31, 2008 and 2007:

28. Split-off

In accordance with the resolution at the stockholders’ meeting dated February 27, 2007, the Controlling 

Company split off its green tea and glass container businesses to establish Jangwon Co., Ltd. and 

PACIFICGLAS, Inc. on April 1, 2007. 

The key financial effects resulting from the split-off as of April 1, 2007 are as follows:

29. Supplementary cash flow information 

Significant transactions not involving cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 are as 

follows:

   2008 2007

Reclassification of construction in-progress to property,  87,674 34,324

    plant and equipment 

Reclassification of land to investment in land  - 51,641

   87,674 85,965

30. Discontinuing operations 

In accordance with the resolution at the Board of Directors’ meeting on August 18, 2008, the Company 

decided on the disposal of Castelbajac, Lirikos, Lolita Lempicka and YSOA segments of AMOREPACIFIC 

EUROPE S.A.S.

The carrying amount of the assets and liabilities of the segments as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 

are as follows: 

   2008 2007

Assets held for disposal  

     Trade accounts and notes receivable  658 2,288

     Inventories  - 1,750

     Development costs  - 11,427

   658 15,465

Liabilities held for disposal 

 Provisions  (440) -

   218 15,465

  2008

   Consolidating Discontinuing  

 Cosmetics Others adjustment operations Earnings

Sales 1,817,872 213,996  (123,107) (2,085) 1,906,676 

Internal sales           (55,302)    (67,805)       123,107 - -

Net sales 1,762,570 146,191 - (2,085)  1,906,676

Operation income  249,606  11,105 (31,406) 3,767 233,072

Total assets  1,668,972 1,644,333 (575,020) 658 2,738,943

  2007

   Consolidating Discontinuing  

 Cosmetics Others adjustment operations Earnings

Sales 1,577,526   186,819      (120,225)        (5,983) 1,638,137  

Internal sales  (75,634) (44,591) 120,225 - -

Net sales  1,501,892 142,228 - (5,983)  1,638,137

Operation income 238,476 12,325 (29,647) 1,729 222,883

Total assets 1,449,933 1,592,767  (486,128) 15,465 2,572,037

Korean won in millions

    After split-off 

  Before split-off PACIFIC Corporation Jangwon Co., Ltd. PACIFICGLAS Inc.

Assets 1,393,553 1,390,456 61,690 56,277

Liabilities 165,372 145,467 5,864 14,431

Stockholder’s equity 1,228,181 1,244,989 55,826 41,846

Capital stock 44,451 44,451 5,000 5,000

Korean won in millions

Korean won in millions

Korean won in thousands

Korean won in millions

    2008

                Domestic   Consolidating     Discontinuing 

  Domestic Export Overseas    adjustment operation Total

Sales 1,779,006 62,257 190,605 (123,107) (2,085) 1,906,676

Internal sales  (83,025) (40,082) 123,107 - -

Net sales  1,758,238 150,523 - (2,085) 1,906,676

Operation income      272,726 (12,015) (31,406) 3,767 233,072

Total assets  3,121,966 191,339 (575,020) 658 2,738,943

        

    2007

   Domestic   Consolidating     Discontinuing 

  Domestic Export Overseas    adjustment operation Total

Sales 1,580,581 42,642 141,122 (120,225) (5,983) 1,638,137

Internal sales           (60,183) (60,042) 120,225 - -

Net sales  1,563,040 81,080 - (5,983) 1,638,137

Operation income      264,781 (13,980) (29,647) 1,729 222,883

Total assets  2,899,059 162,533 (505,020) 15,465 2,572,037
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Income from discontinuing operations for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 are as follows: 

(*) Net income from discontinuing operations for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 are as follows: 

   2008 2007

Cost directly attributable to discontinuing operations   (1,757) -

Impairment loss on assets from discontinuing operations   (13,293) -

Net income from discontinuing operations (*)   (5,804) (2,064)

Income from discontinuing operations (before income taxes)  (20,854) (2,064)

Tax benefit  6,951 688

Income from discontinuing operations (after income taxes)  (13,903) (1,376)

   2008 2007

Sales   2,085 5,983

Cost of sales  (469) (2,311)

Gross profit  1,616 3,672

Selling and administrative expenses  (5,383) (5,401)

Operating income  (3,767)  (1,729)

Other expenses, net  (2,037) (335)

Net income before income taxes  (5,804) (2,064)

Cash flows information for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 are as follows:

   2008 2007

Cash flows from operating activities   (4,853) 3,482

Korean won in thousands

Korean won in thousands

Korean won in thousands
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